

EXPLAINING INTERNATIONAL IT APPLICATION LEADERSHIP:

Health IT

Daniel Castro | September 2009

CONTENTS

Executive Summary	1
Introduction	7
Part I: Health IT in Different Countries	8
Adoption of Electronic Health Record Systems	9
Adoption of EHR Systems by Primary Care Providers	9
Adoption of EHR Systems by Hospitals	
Adoption of Computerized Physician Order Entry Systems	11
Adoption of CPOE Systems by Primary Care Physicians	11
Adoption of CPOE Systems in Hospitals	
Use of Electronic Prescribing	13
Availability of Online Health Portals	15
Implementation of Telehealth	
Teleradiology	
Part II: Lessons from Global Leaders in Health IT	24
National Leadership to Promote Health IT Adoption	
Health Care System Organization and Financing	
Financial Incentives for Health IT	
Government Mandates to Spur Health IT	
Size of a Country's Population	
Structural Issues in the Health Care Sector	
Societal and Cultural Factors Related to Health IT	
Privacy Issues Related to Health IT Systems	
Policies to Support Telehealth	
Common Health IT Infrastructure	
Robust Standards to Support Health IT	
Use of Unique Patient Identifiers	42
Part III: Conclusion	44
Part IV: Recommendations for U.S. Policymakers	45
Endnotes	49

List of Tables

Table 1: Use of EHR Systems by Primary Care Physicians	10
Table 2: Use of EHR Systems in Hospitals	11
Table 3: Use of Electronic Ordering of Laboratory Tests by Primary Care Physicians	12
Table 4: Use of CPOE Systems in Hospitals	13
Table 5: Use of Electronic Prescribing by Primary Care Physicians	14
Table 6: Electronic Transmission of Prescriptions by Primary Care Physicians	15
Table 7: Use of Internet-Enabled Monitoring Devices in U.S. Hospitals, by Condition	22
Table 8: Use of Unique Patient Identifiers in Seven Developed Countries	43

List of Boxes

Box 1: Technologies for Reducing Medication Errors in Hospitals	16
Box 2: Nationally Standardized Machine-Readable Patient ID Cards in the United States	18
Box 3: Self-Serve Computer Kiosks in Hospitals	19
Box 4: Remote Electronic Intensive Care Units	21

Executive Summary

reater use of information technology (IT) in health care can help achieve many health care reform goals. Health IT can improve the effectiveness and efficiency of health care by reducing costs, improving the quality of care, and increasing access to health care services and information. Health IT also contributes to broader health care goals such as creating a more patient-centric health care system by empowering individuals to better manage their own health care and enabling them to communicate more easily with their health care providers. Finally, health IT increasingly serves as the foundation for medical research, opening up new pathways for drug discovery and enabling comparative effectiveness research. However, progress in the adoption of health IT varies significantly between nations, suggesting that

progress is not limited by the costs, quality or usefulness of the technology, but rather by other factors that nations can influence.

The purpose of this report is to identify which countries are leading in the

deployment of health IT and to draw lessons that might be useful for other countries. The first section of the report gives an overview of the current state of and trends in health IT adoption in the United States and several other developed countries. Our analysis of available literature and data indicate that three countries-Denmark, Finland, and Sweden-are definitively ahead of the United States and most other countries in moving forward with their health IT systems. These three Nordic countries have nearly universal usage of electronic health records (EHRs) among primary care providers, high rates of adoption of EHRs in hospitals, widespread use of health IT applications, including the ability to order tests and prescribe medicine electronically, advanced telehealth programs, and portals that provide online access to health information. All three countries have embraced IT as the foundation for reforming their

health care systems and have successfully implemented changes that reach every patient. These nations show the transformations possible in health care today through the greater use of IT. Any nation that is not at or ahead of this level is missing substantial opportunities.

The second section of the report identifies the factors that have led to success in these countries and the lessons that can be learned by other nations to drive health IT adoption. These factors include the following:

 National leadership to promote health IT adoption. Perhaps no factor is more important in explaining why some countries lead in health IT adoption than strong national-level leadership. Implementing health

> IT involves a complex set of relationships among individuals and organizations with competing goals and priorities. The global leaders-Denmark, Finland, Sweden—have and all implemented national-level strategies drive to and

coordinate health IT adoption. In contrast, the de facto strategy in the United States has focused on building the network from the bottom up by establishing regional health information organizations (RHIOs) or health information exchanges (HIEs). The U.S. approach, including its lack, up until now, of national-level executive leadership, has failed to produce а nationwide system of interoperable EHR systems. For example, the majority of these regional initiatives are not yet operational, with only 57 HIEs operational out of 193 active HIEs nationwide.¹ Without strong national-level leadership, progress will likely continue to be incremental at best.

 Health care system organization and financing. The organization of a country's health care system and health care financing

Perhaps no factor is more important in explaining why some countries lead in health IT adoption than strong nationallevel leadership. can have a significant impact on health IT adoption. In Denmark, Finland, and Sweden, and other countries with single-payer health care systems, the costs and benefits of investing in health IT systems are better aligned than they are in countries such as the United States, where multiple governmental and nongovernmental entities pay for health care. Moreover, in these nations governments can afford to take a longer term view and make investments that might not pay off fully in the short term. More government involvement in health care also leads to more accountability. One of the reasons that Finland and Denmark have achieved significantly higher rates of EHR adoption in hospitals than other countries is that their hospital systems are government-run. Thus, political leaders have direct accountability for the quality of the care delivered at these institutions, and the government can prioritize needed upgrades and recoup public

investment in hospital IT systems.

• Financial incentives for health IT. Researchers consistently identify the high initial cost of EHR systems as a barrier to

more widespread health IT adoption.² Financial incentives for health IT adoption by health care providers therefore can be an effective policy tool, and they have been used effectively in Australia, Denmark, the Netherlands, and the United Kingdom, among others, to spur the use of health IT.

Government mandates to spur health IT. Many countries use government mandates to achieve broad or universal health IT adoption. Governments can mandate either the use of specific functionality or the use of specific technology. Denmark and Norway, for example, have achieved high rates of eprescribing by making e-prescribing mandatory for primary care providers.³

Adoption of health IT in the United States is made more difficult by the fact that over two-thirds of physicians work in solo or small group practices.

Size of a country's population. Large countries with a diverse group of stakeholders appear to be at a disadvantage when deploying health IT. Arguments can be made for both a positive and a negative correlation between a country's population size and health IT adoption. On the one hand, economies of scale would suggest that deploying health IT in larger countries would be cheaper and thus larger countries would be more likely to have higher rates of health IT adoption. Conversely, smaller countries may be more likely to lead in health IT adoption because their smaller size allows easier coordination between various stakeholders. Indeed, a significant challenge with health IT is the difficulty of coordinating and bringing together various stakeholders to work towards a shared vision and overcome obstacles such interoperability. as is often easier in smaller Coordination countries in part because the ability to

collaborate is closely related to the number of competing stakeholders, such as the number of health IT vendors. Some mid-sized nations, like the United Kingdom, have also been able to achieve a level of

success coordinating the deployment of health IT because they have a more centralized health care system.

Structural issues in the health care sector. . Several structural issues in the health care sector can have a significant impact on technology adoption including the average size of medical practices (larger practices make it easier to adopt health IT), the number of vendors for health IT systems (fewer vendors make it easier to adopt health IT), and the number of competing pharmacies (fewer pharmacies make it easier to adopt health IT). Consolidation to achieve economies of scale generally facilitates deployment of health IT. For example, Sweden was able to more easily introduce a national e-prescribing system because of the existing state monopoly on pharmacies. Adoption of health IT in the

United States is made more difficult by the fact that over two-thirds of physicians work in solo or small group practices.⁴

- Societal and cultural factors related to health IT. A number of factors, including the level of technological sophistication of the population, peer influences, and cultural norms, have a significant impact on health IT adoption. Denmark, Finland and Sweden all have a relatively technologically sophisticated population, a fact which contributes to high expectations from patients to have their doctors use IT in health care. In Denmark, for example, as early as 1998, patients would consider their doctor "second-rate" if he or she did not have a personal computer in the office.⁵ Peer pressure from other doctors to adopt health IT has also contributed to the mostly voluntary adoption of health IT in countries like Denmark and Sweden.
- Privacy issues related to health IT systems. Concerns about medical privacy should not be used to impede adoption of health IT. Deploying EHR systems with robust technical controls, including encryption, electronic identification, and audit logs can improve the privacy and security of personal medical data. In Denmark, for example, patients have access to health information through the official Danish e-health portal Sundhed.dk and can control many privacy functions through this portal, including monitoring who has accessed or modified their personal medical records. As a result, privacy advocates generally supported efforts to implement health IT. In the United States, health privacy advocates have often opposed efforts to implement health IT and have succeeded in advocating for overly restrictive laws and rules that have limited implementation of health IT. In general, privacy regulations are most effective when they strike a balance by reassuring citizens that their privacy is being protected while not implementing restrictive measures that reduce data sharing and result in lower quality care.

- Policies to support telehealth. Many nations have enacted policies designed to either encourage or impede the use of telemedicine including funding mechanisms, licensing and regulatory barriers. To support telemedicine, medical insurance reimbursement schedules need to include appropriate funding for telemedicine applications, interstate and international licensing standards should be promoted, and regulatory barriers should be minimized.
- Common health IT infrastructure. Building shared IT infrastructure-that is, technology that can be used by multiple health care providers-helps lower costs and increase interoperability by creating a shared platform for health care organizations to use. Examples of common health IT infrastructure include shared EHR systems, online authentication services, electronic billing systems, secure email, online portals, and health data networks. For example, Sweden has developed Sjunet, a national broadband network for the secure exchange of health information connecting all hospitals, primary care centers, and many other health centers. Sjunet is used for multiple clinical and administrative purposes in Sweden, including video-conferencing, teleradiology, secure e-mail, electronic data interchange, and e-learning in medical education.
- Robust standards to support health IT. Robust standards are critical to the effective application of health IT and play an important role in spurring the use of new technology. To facilitate the standard-setting process, many actively engage governments with all stakeholders, including those from the private sector, to coordinate the development of for example, standards. In Denmark, MedCom, the Danish health care organization responsible for setting standards for health IT systems, acts as a coordinating body to bring together health care providers, laboratories, vendors, and others to develop interoperable standards.

Use of unique patient identifiers. Unique patient identifiers help facilitate data sharing between different health care organizations and benefits of their use include reduced risk of medical error, improved efficiency, and better privacy protections for patients. The use of unique patient identifiers is common in many of the global leaders in health IT, including Denmark, Finland and Sweden. Notably, the United States has not adopted a system of unique patient identifiers—in large part because of unwarranted fears about a loss of privacy—a fact that has been identified as being a hindrance to using data from EHRs for research.⁶

Although there is no one-size-fits-all set of rules for achieving widespread health IT adoption, government policymakers can learn many lessons from the global health IT leaders about how to

spur progress in modernizing their health care systems. Some of the factors that influence health IT, including the type of health care system, are entrenched in the nation and not likely to change. Yet other factors, including organizational challenges, technical hurdles, and societal issues, are more

amenable to change by national policy. Our analysis demonstrates that national government policies can play an important role in shaping and facilitating a country's health IT adoption and use, regardless of the structure and organization of that nation's health care system. For example, the United States does not need to adopt a singlepayer system to make more robust progress in health IT.

The United States has many opportunities to improve its use of health IT by learning from the global leaders in the field. Some of these lessons mentioned have already been implemented in the health IT provisions of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009. Further actions for policymakers to spur use and maximize benefits of health IT include the following:

Congress could fund the deployment and evaluation of next-generation hospital IT applications, including robotics, wireless mobile technology, and RFID, in select hospitals within the Veterans Health Administration.

- Provide strong national-level leadership on health IT. Every nation leading in health IT has a comprehensive national strategy for ehealth, with clear metrics and goal posts to measure progress. Strong national leadership is needed for the United States to break through existing barriers on health IT adoption and make progress towards a future of interconnected health data systems.
- Provide sufficient funding for health IT adoption. The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 has provided a needed boost in funding for deploying EHR systems in the United States; however, additional funding may be necessary. If necessary, Congress should consider providing additional financial incentives, including entitlement spending and direct grants, or the use of mandates and penalties, to spur

adoption of qualified EHR systems. Congress should also continue to fund pilot programs and demonstration projects for innovative, new applications of health IT, including telemedicine, health record data banks and "smart" hospitals. For Congress example, could fund the deployment and

evaluation of next-generation hospital IT applications, including robotics, wireless mobile technology, and RFID, in select hospitals within the Veterans Health Administration.

Build and share tools for health IT. Although the United States has pursued a decentralized approach to building a nationwide system of interoperable EHRs, as other nations have demonstrated, policymakers should support efforts to build common infrastructure to spur more widespread adoption of health IT systems. In particular, the United States would likely benefit from the development of common infrastructure for routine tasks, such as electronic authentication for patients, which should be performed by every health care information system. In cases where de facto national tools have been developed by the private sector, the federal government can support these tools by actively using them.

- Encourage the creation of health record data banks. Many countries appear to be moving towards a centralized repository for health information. Given the resistance to a government-run solution in the United States, health record data banks run by the private sector may offer a compelling, and perhaps even more effective, alternative. Health record data banks would help create the necessary market incentives to spur adoption of EHR systems and provide patients with a single portal through which they could get access to and manage their medical records. They would also allow patients to maintain control over their medical records.
- Encourage personal health records with data sharing. A personal health record is a health record that is initiated and maintained by an individual. Individuals need access to their EHRs, maintained by health care providers, to use personal health record systems such as Microsoft HealthVault and Google Health, which help empower patients to make better health care decisions. To encourage the use of personal health records, Congress should require doctors to provide patients with a no-cost electronic copy of their health information upon request.⁷ In addition, the Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology in the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services should include the ability to export data to personal health record managers as part of the definition of "meaningful use" used to determine which EHR systems qualify for stimulus funding.
- Address legitimate privacy concerns. Privacy advocates have raised many objections to health IT initiatives that have slowed progress with this technology in the United States. U.S. policymakers need to recognize

that some privacy objections have more to do with general issues concerning medical privacy than with specific technology. Taking a lesson from some of the global leaders in health IT, U.S. policymakers should encourage the use of technical controls to ensure privacy, such as use of electronic identification, the authentication and audit trails in health IT systems. In addition, a national discussion is needed so that policymakers and the public fully understand the costs that certain privacy measures impose on society and the benefits that come from a more liberal data-sharing environment, such as better use of decision support systems and improved medical research.

- Eliminate barriers to health IT adoption. Policymakers in the United States must work to identify and overcome existing barriers to the adoption and use of health IT—including legislative, regulatory, and societal obstacles. Thus, for example, policy leaders must continue to work with the Drug Enforcement Administration to pass regulations to allow physicians to prescribe controlled substances electronically. In addition, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services should be directed to ensure that it develops fair reimbursement regulations for telemedicine.
- Leverage federal resources to support health IT initiatives. Congress should use the federal government's substantial buying power to support health IT initiatives. For example, to help spur the adoption and use of health IT, Congress should cover the monthly access fees to participate in a health record data bank for all Medicare, Medicaid, and CHIP enrollees. In addition, Congress should require that health plan insurers for federal employees include access to health record data banks as part of their covered services. Because supporting broader use of health IT will lead to cost savings for health care payers, in this case the federal government, this strategy will help ensure a positive return on investment for federal health care dollars.

- Encourage "in silico" health research. Ultimately health IT has the potential to dramatically improve the quality of medical research as more and more medical data is digitized. To benefit from the full potential of health informatics, the United States should develop the capability to share medical data for authorized research in a timely and efficient manner.⁸ This includes developing а comprehensive legal framework to address challenges to sharing research data, such as the appropriate use of de-identified medical data. Policymakers should also consider functional requirements for EHR systems to allow the secondary-use of medical data for research. Finally, health care leaders should work to develop a national data-sharing infrastructure support health informatics research, to including the development of rapid-learning health networks, rather than relying on the current system of isolated, project-specific research databases.⁹
- Collaborate and partner with all stakeholders. Stronger federal leadership in health IT in the United States should not come at the expense of a collaborative relationship with other health care stakeholders. The federal government should work to bring together health care providers, insurers, and the health IT industry to spur meaningful use of e-health applications. The U.S. government must partner with the private sector to continue to develop standards and certification criteria for health IT systems. Health care providers must be involved throughout the planning and implementation stages to ensure widespread acceptance from physicians and health care workers. In addition, the United States should seek out more international partnerships to engage in the development of global standards for health IT and to continue to learn from the insights and experiences of the global leaders in health IT.

Introduction

ountries all over the world, large and small, rich and poor, have embraced health information technology (IT) as a critical component of health care reform. It has become increasingly clear to governments and health care leaders that IT is central to delivering high-quality health care, improving patient outcomes, and controlling health care costs. Health care around the world is entering the digital age, with applications of IT ranging from the use of IT to train nurses in Kenya to advanced telemedicine applications in Sweden.¹⁰ Although many countries have made progress in deploying health IT on a national level, a few developed countries have emerged as global leaders. The global leaders in health IT not only have a high rate of usage of critical health IT applications such as electronic health records (EHRs) but also look to utilize IT at every step in the health care system.

The purpose of this report is to identify which countries are leading in the deployment of health IT and to draw lessons that might be useful for other countries. The report begins with an overview of the current state of and trends in health IT adoption in the United States and several other developed countries. The basis for any country's e-health system is a robust system of EHRs. An EHR is a longitudinal electronic record of patient health information generated by one or more encounters in any health care delivery setting.¹¹ An EHR is a critical and necessary component of many advanced health care applications. The adoption of EHR systems generally occurs along two separate trajectoriesone for primary care providers and one for hospitals. To identify the countries that are leading in health IT adoption, we analyze available data to see which nations are furthest along in both of these adoption paths. We also analyze several other indicators of progress in the adoption of health IT, including the adoption of computerized physician order entry (CPOE) systems that enable physicians to directly enter orders for medication and other medical care into a computer, electronic

prescribing, online health portals, and the use of telecommunication for health care or "telehealth" (also referred to as "telemedicine").

Our analysis of available English-language literature and data indicate that three developed countries-Denmark, Finland, and Sweden-are definitively ahead of the United States and most other countries in moving forward with their health IT systems. These three Nordic countries have nearly universal usage of EHRs among primary care providers, high rates of adoption of EHRs in hospitals, widespread use of health IT applications, including the ability to order tests and electronically, prescribe medicine advanced telehealth programs, and portals that provide online access to health information. All three of these countries have embraced IT as the foundation for reforming their health care systems and have successfully implemented changes that reach every patient. Other developed countries, including Australia, the Netherlands. New Zealand, Norway, Singapore, and the United Kingdom, also have advanced health IT platforms. In addition, some countries, such as Spain and Italy, have regional health IT projects that rival the scope and complexity of some national projects.

To be sure, no country has all of the answers or a perfect health care system. Neither does any one country lead across every metric. But all nations can learn from the leaders. The second half of the report analyzes the policies implemented by the Nordic and other developed countries that lead in health IT and evaluates factors that may have contributed to their success. The factors discussed include national leadership, health care system government financing, financial incentives, mandates, health IT infrastructure, and others. The report concludes with recommendations for the United States to learn from other nations' successes in adopting and using health IT. The global leaders in health IT provide useful lessons for the United States and other nations that aspire to implement world-class health IT applications.

Part I: Health IT in Different Countries

n this section, we present our analysis, based on existing literature and data, of the United States' and other developed countries' progress with respect to several metrics of the adoption and use of health IT:

- Adoption of electronic health record (EHR) systems. EHRs are critical and necessary components of many advanced health care applications, and EHR systems are the fundamental building blocks of any national health information system. Widely systems provide deployed EHR can population-level health information that can be used by epidemiologists and other researchers. Thus, a robust system of EHRs makes it feasible to use clinical data to improve health care.
- Adoption of computerized physician order entry (CPOE) systems. CPOE systems are systems that enable physicians to enter orders for medication and other medical care (e.g., laboratory, microbiology, pathology, radiology tests) directly into a computer. Directly entering orders into a computer has the benefit of reducing errors by minimizing the ambiguity of hand-written orders, and the combination of CPOE and clinical decision support tools offers additional benefits.
- Use of electronic prescribing. Electronic prescribing, or "e-prescribing," is the computer-based generation of a prescription for medication, taking the place of paper and faxed prescriptions. Some e-prescribing systems allow a health care provider not only to enter the prescription electronically but also to transmit it electronically to the pharmacy.
- Availability of online health portals. The development of patient-centric, online portals is in line with a broader trend in health care to use IT to create a more patient-centric approach to health care. Online health portals range from basic portals that provide patients with basic medical information on illnesses and

drugs, to more advanced portals that provide online access to health care services, to even more advanced portals that provide access to personalized medical information.

Applications of telehealth. Health care applications delivered via telecommunications, or "telehealth," have great potential to facilitate the provision and receipt of high quality health care by reducing geographic barriers to care. Telehealth can be applied to almost any medical field from telepathology to telesurgery to teledermatology.

Comparing the progress of different countries with respect to health IT is challenging. Levels of health IT adoption are always changing, albeit gradually, and the publication of survey results typically lags data collection by a few months to a year or more. Moreover, direct comparisons between countries, even when data are available, are often complicated by divergent methodologies used to derive national statistics on the usage of certain technologies. The rate of adoption and use of the various technologies only tell part of the storythese numbers do not reflect the varying levels of quality of the information systems in use. Survey methods and definitions used in different studies may vary, making direct comparison inaccurate, and sometimes, even misleading. In addition, the quality of the data varies. Numerous studies analyzing the level of health IT adoption and usage throughout various countries have been published, and no single study can definitively capture the state of e-health systems in a nation.

Nonetheless, our analysis indicates that Denmark, Finland, and Sweden are definitively ahead of the United States and other countries in the deployment and use of health IT. It also shows that no single country leads or lags across every metric of success in health IT just as no single country leads or lags across every metric of success in its health care system (e.g., the United States has a high 5-year cancer survival rate but a low 5-year kidney transplantation survival rate).¹² Countries that do well on one metric of progress in health IT do not always do well on others (e.g., Finland has one of the highest rates of adoption of EHRs yet has no system in place for transmitting prescriptions electronically from physicians to pharmacies).

Adoption of Electronic Health Record Systems

The adoption of EHR systems generally occurs along two separate trajectories—one for primary care providers and one for hospitals. To identify the leaders in health IT adoption for this report, we analyzed available data to see which nations were furthest along in both of these adoption paths. Some EHR systems are far more sophisticated than others.

As early as 1991, the Institute of Medicine envisioned an EHR as "an electronic patient record that resides in a system specifically designed to support users through availability of complete

and accurate data. practitioner reminders and clinical alerts. decision support systems, links to bodies of medical knowledge, and other aids."13 recently, More а study commissioned by the

principal federal entity charged with coordination of nationwide efforts to implement and use the most advanced health IT in the United States-the Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology (ONC) in the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS)-identified four functional criteria for EHR systems: (1) collecting patient demographic and clinical information; (2) displaying and managing laboratory test results; (3) allowing health care providers to enter orders for medication and other medical care (e.g., laboratory, microbiology, pathology, radiology tests) and (4) supporting clinical decisions (e.g., through computer reminders and alerts to improve the diagnosis and care, including screening for correct drug selection and dosing, preventive health reminders for vaccinations and screenings, and clinical guidelines for treatment).¹⁴

The adoption of EHR systems generally occurs along two separate trajectories—one for primary care providers and one for hospitals.

Not all EHR systems currently in existence include all of these capabilities. Thus, for example, some EHR systems allow a provider to record patients' demographic and clinical information electronically but do not offer clinical decision support at the point of care. EHR systems also vary as to whether they store data centrally or distribute data across multiple information systems. Finally, the level of interoperability and portability of the electronic records stored in EHR systems varies greatly from one system to another.

Adoption of EHR Systems by Primary Care Providers

Our analysis of the use of EHR systems by primary care providers in Australia, Canada, Denmark, Finland, Germany, Japan, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Sweden, the United Kingdom, and the United States is based on data drawn from multiple sources. For seven countries—Australia, Canada, Germany, the

> Netherlands, New Zealand, the United Kingdom, and the United States—the primary source of data is a survey of primary care providers on their use of IT in their practices that was conducted on behalf of the Commonwealth Fund by

Harris Interactive between February and July 2006. That survey yielded a comprehensive, multinational data set on the use of EHR systems by primary care providers in these seven countries.¹⁵ For Denmark, Finland, Sweden, and Japan, four countries that were not included in that survey, we used other data sources.¹⁶

As shown in Table 1, the global leaders in the adoption and use of EHR systems by primary care physicians in our analysis were Sweden, Finland, the Netherlands, and Denmark, where EHRs were used, respectively, by 100 percent, 99 percent, 98 percent, and 95 percent of primary care physicians. Other countries leading in the adoption of EHR systems by primary care physicians were New Zealand, and the United Kingdom, all with EHR adoption rates among primary care physicians of close to 90 percent.

The United States was far behind the global leaders. In 2006, only 28 percent of primary care doctors in the United States reported using an EHR system. Measurements of the level of adoption of EHRs among primary care providers in the United States vary based on a variety of factors such as size of practice (small or large) or setting (outpatient or inpatient care). The 2005 National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey, for example, found that EHR adoption rates among primary care physicians in the United States for at least partial use of an EHR ranged from 16 percent for solo practitioners to 46 percent among physicians in practices with more than 10 physicians. When an EHR system was defined as a more comprehensive system that provides "health information and data, results management, order entry and support, and decision support," EHR adoption rates by primary care physicians in the United States in 2006 dropped to 4 percent in solo practices and 21 percent in practices with 11 or more physicians.¹⁷

Table 1: Use of EHR Systems by Primary CarePhysicians

Country	Percent of Primary Care Physicians Using EHR Systems
Australia	79
Canada	23
Denmark	95
Finland	99
Germany	42
Japan	10
The Netherlands	98
New Zealand	92
Sweden	100
United Kingdom	89
United States	28

Adoption of EHR Systems by Hospitals

As shown in Table 2, our analysis indicates that Finland, Sweden, and Denmark are clearly among the global leaders in adoption of EHR systems by hospitals. In Finland, 100 percent of hospitals have adopted EHR systems.¹⁸ In Sweden, 88 percent of all medical records in hospitals are digital, far surpassing the progress of most other countries.¹⁹ In Denmark, 35 percent of hospitals use EHR systems.²⁰ Finland has shown perhaps the most remarkable success in deploying EHR systems in hospitals. In 1999, only 4 of the 21 hospital administrative districts in Finland had deployed any EHR systems; as of 2007, EHR systems were in use in all 21 of Finland's hospital districts. More impressively, 19 of the hospital districts reported that the intensity of usage was over 90 percent. The intensity measures the degree to which actions are electronic; in this case 9 out of every 10 patient records were recorded electronically.²¹

In most countries, the rates of adoption of EHR systems by hospitals have been much lower than EHR adoption rates among primary care physicians. Even in the Netherlands where 98 percent of primary care physicians use EHR systems, the EHR adoption rate in hospitals is below 5 percent. A 2008 assessment of health IT use in seven nations by Jha et al. found that none of the countries reviewed-the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, Germany, the Netherlands, Australia, and New Zealand-had hospital-based EHR use greater than 10 percent.²² The study noted two primary reasons for this slow progress: first, policymakers in most of these countries have shown little interest in modernizing hospitals; second, hospitals often have legacy systems that must be integrated, often with much expense, with newer EHR systems.

Japan has also had little success deploying EHR systems in hospitals. A 2008 study in Japan found that 10 percent of hospitals had adopted an EHR system, but the rate of adoption was much higher at public hospitals and university hospitals.²³ Public hospitals and university hospitals both tend to be larger institutions. It is unclear whether the size of the institution or the type was a determining factor.

The lack of progress in modernizing hospitals can certainly be seen in the United States. A study released in 2009 found that 7.6 percent of acute care hospitals in the United States had EHRs present in at least one clinical unit and that only 1.5 percent of acute care hospitals in the United States had implemented EHRs in all clinical units.²⁴ That study also found that "hospitals were more likely to report having an electronic-records system if they were larger institutions, major teaching hospitals, part of a larger hospital system, or located in urban areas and if they had dedicated coronary care units."²⁵ It found no correlation between hospitals' rate of adopting EHRs and whether the hospitals were public or privately owned.

Table 2:	Use of EHR	Systems in	Hospitals
----------	------------	------------	-----------

Country	Percent of Hospitals Using EHR Systems
Australia	< 10
Canada	< 10
Denmark	35
Finland	100
Germany	< 5
Japan	10
The Netherlands	< 5
New Zealand	< 1
South Korea	9
Sweden	88
United Kingdom	3
United States	8

Adoption of Computerized Physician Order Entry Systems

One potential benefit of using IT in health care is reducing medical errors. In 1999, a study by the Institute of Medicine estimated that between 44,000 to 98,000 people in the United States die every year as a result of medical errors.²⁶ This statistic has since been disputed, but there is little question that more progress is needed to improve patient safety.²⁷ A variety of IT-based applications can improve patient safety by providing feedback to medical providers on potential hazards and best practices. Among these are computerized physician order entry (CPOE) systems. As noted earlier, CPOE systems enable physicians to enter orders for medical care ranging from prescription medicine to orders for medical tests into a computer rather than on paper; these orders are then integrated with patient information, including laboratory and prescription information.²⁸ CPOE systems can help reduce medical errors by improving the legibility of medical orders, increasing access to on-demand medical information, and warning of potential adverse drug

effects. In many developed countries, the adoption rate of CPOE in primary care practices corresponds to the adoption rate of EHR systems for the simple reason that that many EHR systems include this functionality.

The use of CPOE to improve patient care has been endorsed by a variety of organizations in the United States, including the Institute of Medicine and the Leapfrog Group.²⁹ The Leapfrog Group, for example, identifies CPOE use as the top priority safety initiative for hospitals and estimates 522,000 serious medical errors could be avoided annually in the United States if all non-rural hospitals used CPOE.³⁰ Clinical decision support systems in CPOE systems can integrate patient information to indicate, for example, if a new prescription will likely interfere with other medications or conditions. In addition to improving patient safety, CPOE can help reduce costs and increase operational efficiency. Although the level of adoption of CPOE provides a good indicator of progress, the effectiveness of CPOE systems depends on the skill with which the system has been integrated into a medical practice's workflow and procedures. Indeed, a CPOE system should not be thought of as a "plug-and-play" technology, but instead a health care tool that is only as effective as those wielding it.

Adoption of CPOE Systems by Primary Care Physicians

One indicator of a successful implementation of CPOE systems among primary care providers is the ability of primary care physicians to place for medical tests (e.g. laboratory, orders microbiology, radiology pathology, tests) electronically. (Another indicator of the successful implementation of CPOE use, electronic prescribing, is discussed in a separate section below.) As shown in Table 3, using the ability of primary care physicians to order medical tests electronically as a proxy for the use of CPOE among primary care providers, we find that Denmark leads in this area. Approximately 80 percent of primary care providers in Denmark report being able to order medical tests electronically.3

Finland has not published data on primary care doctors' ability to order laboratory tests electronically, but 72 percent of primary health care centers in that country have the capability to receive laboratory results electronically.³² For Sweden, we were unable to locate data on the ability of primary care doctors to order laboratory tests electronically; however, one scholar notes that "most GPs receive laboratory results from hospitals over local networks but few are sending requests electronically."³³ their lab Other developed countries that rank high in the routine use of computers to order medical tests among primary care providers include Australia and New Zealand, with adoption rates of 65 percent and 62 percent, respectively.³⁴ The United States lags these nations in the ability of primary care physicians to order medical tests electronically, as it does in the adoption of EHR systems. Only 22 percent of primary care providers use CPOE systems to order medical tests.35

Table 3: Use of Electronic Ordering of LaboratoryTests by Primary Care Physicians

Country	Percent of Primary Care Physicians Using Electronic Ordering of Laboratory Tests
Australia	65
Canada	8
Denmark	80
Finland	n/a*
Germany	27
The Netherlands	5
New Zealand	62
Sweden	n/a
United Kingdom	20
United States	22

* Although Finland has not published data on the ability of primary care doctors to order laboratory tests electronically, 72 percent of primary health care centers in that country have the capability to receive laboratory results electronically.

Other nations where the use of electronic ordering of laboratory results is low include Germany and Canada, with adoption rates of 27 percent and 8 percent respectively.³⁶ Interestingly, the Netherlands, a leader in the use of EHR systems, ranks low in this category too, with only 5 percent of primary care providers reporting the ability to order medical tests electronically. One explanation for this situation is that many laboratories in the Netherlands did not see the short-term value of implementing a system that would enable primary care physicians to order medical tests electronically because in most cases a physical transfer would still need to occur-i.e., either a patient or a sample would have to be sent to the laboratory. Instead, laboratories in the Netherlands invested in information systems to share data. Given that 72 percent of primary care providers in the Netherlands report the ability to receive laboratory results electronically, this program appears to have been a successful one. At present, however, a new laboratory program is under development in the Netherlands that includes the electronic ordering of medical tests.³⁷

Adoption of CPOE Systems in Hospitals

Although the value of CPOE systems is likely to be amplified in a hospital setting where patients interact with multiple caregivers, Table 4 shows that most countries' progress in deploying CPOE systems in hospitals has been slow. The exception is South Korea, which reports that CPOE systems are available in 81 percent of hospitals-an unexpectedly high rate given the low level of EHR adoption in hospitals in that country.³⁸ In contrast, six of the countries reviewed in a 2008 study by Jha et al.-Australia, Canada, Germany, the Netherlands, New Zealand, and the United Kingdom-did not have hospital CPOE adoption rates above 5 percent; the United States had a slightly higher hospital CPOE adoption rate, in the range of 5 percent to 10 percent.³⁹ A 2009 survey of the literature from seven countries similarly found that Australia, France, Germany, Switzerland, and the United Kingdom had hospital CPOE adoption rates of less than 5 percent; but it found that the United States had a hospital CPOE adoption rate of approximately 15 percent; and the Netherlands had a hospital CPOE adoption rate of 20 percent.⁴⁰

Other surveys of CPOE use in U.S. hospitals have reached similar conclusions. A 2002 survey of U.S. hospitals found that 9.6 percent of hospitals reported full availability of a CPOE system and 6.5 percent reported partial availability. More striking was that of the hospitals that had implemented a CPOE system, only 46.2 percent of them required physicians to use the systems. The remainder of the hospitals either encouraged, but did not require its use, or made usage optional.⁴¹ A more recent study in 2009 found that CPOE for medication had been implemented in 17 percent of hospitals.⁴²

One factor contributing to the low level of adoption of CPOE systems by hospitals in most countries is that integrating CPOE systems in the hospital environment, which typically already has complex.⁴³ information systems, is some Explanations for the low levels of adoption of CPOE in American hospitals have centered primarily on the high cost of such systems. In fact, some studies have concluded that a CPOE system does not pay for itself, although it does lead to better patient outcomes, more hospital efficiency, and other potential benefits, including reduced malpractice costs.44 Cost alone, however, does not explain the low levels of CPOE adoption in hospitals in the United States. One study found that the primary determinant of whether a hospital invested in a CPOE system in the United States was hospital ownership. Government hospitals in the United States were "three times as likely as nonprofit hospitals and seven times as likely as for-profit hospitals to satisfy the requirements for a 'good early-stage effort."⁴⁵ CPOE use is not a federal requirement for hospitals, but various states have implemented patient safety mandates requiring hospitals to take steps to reduce medical errors, which can include implementing CPOE. Further progress in the United States will likely require additional financial incentives for CPOE systems, increasing doctor acceptance of such systems and a renewed focus by hospitals on patient safety.

The use of CPOE in hospitals appears to be higher in the Nordic countries of Denmark, Finland, and Sweden than in many other countries, although we could not find comparable data for each country. Denmark ranks high in hospitals' use of CPOE, as evidenced by the high proportion of electronic messages exchanged between hospitals and laboratories in that country. As of early 2009, the percentage of messages exchanged by all Danish health care providers (hospitals, primary care providers, dentists, specialists, etc.) ranged from 68 percent of messages in the lowest ranked region to 99 percent of messages in the highest ranked region.⁴⁶ In addition, by 2004, virtually all hospitals had laboratory information systems in place.⁴⁷ Finland, too, has widespread use of CPOE. In Finland, laboratory information systems allow physicians to order laboratory tests electronically and receive test results. These systems not only provide feedback on the usage of the test but also provide information to physicians about the performance of the laboratories. Laboratory information systems are in use in all 21 of the hospital districts in Finland.⁴⁸ In Sweden, we could not find any data on the adoption of CPOE systems in hospitals, but the adoption of CPOE systems in Sweden is reported as being "very common" by experts.49

Table 4: Use of CPOE Systems in Hospitals

Country	Percent of Hospitals
	Using CPOE
Australia	< 5
Denmark	n/a
Finland	100
France	< 5
Germany	< 5
The Netherlands	20
South Korea	81
Sweden	n/a
Switzerland	< 5
United Kingdom	< 5
United States	15

Use of Electronic Prescribing

Electronic prescribing, or "e-prescribing," is an important component of many CPOE systems and often includes decision support features. Instead of using the pen-and-paper prescriptions of the past, doctors can now use desktop computers, tablet personal computers, personal digital assistants, or even mobile phones to generate a prescription electronically. Some e-prescribing systems simply have a doctor generate a paperbased prescription print-out for the patient to take to a pharmacy, but more advanced e-prescribing systems have the capability to send prescriptions directly to the pharmacy of the patient's choice, including online pharmacies.

By reducing the need for paper prescriptions, eprescribing can improve efficiency in the delivery Paper-based prescriptions of care. cost pharmacists and doctors substantial time and money-in fact, using faxes and the telephone to communicate with pharmacists accounts for up to 20 percent of the time of the staff at a doctor's office and 25 percent of the time of pharmacists. One study found that the administrative cost of filling a paper prescription for a Medicaid patient in California was \$13.18 per prescription.⁵⁰ Moreover, the transmission of prescriptions directly to a pharmacy may save time and money for patients.

Perhaps more importantly, e-prescribing has the potential to improve the safety and quality of medical care by reducing medication errors, some of which are due to illegible handwriting. Decision support features in e-prescribing systems can allow doctors and pharmacies to have access to proper dosage information at their fingertips and alert them to possible drug interactions or warnings. Access to a comprehensive profile of a patient's medical history is necessary, however, for decision support tools to be most effective. In e-prescribing systems with formulary decision support, generic alternatives can be presented to the doctor and patient at the time of prescribing, giving patients access to lower cost medicine. Formulary decision support has been found to increase the use of generics among doctors who use e-prescribing. One study found the average annual savings of formulary decision support to be \$8.45 per patient.51

Moreover, e-prescribing has the potential to enable a whole host of additional benefits in health care. As an example, doctors who use e-prescribing can easily generate a list of their patients receiving a certain drug if a more effective product comes on the market. Pharmacists can use electronic prescription information to improve patient safety when dispensing medicine by checking for incorrect dosing and warning of possible drug interactions. Similarly, drug manufacturers may be able to alert their customers if a drug needs to be recalled or if new risks emerge. E-prescribing might even be a tool in stemming the abuse of prescription drugs. For drug enforcement agents, the possibility of monitoring physicians' prescribing patterns or receiving alerts if patients are seen filling multiple prescriptions for the same drug at different pharmacies in a short period of time may improve their ability to prevent prescription fraud and drug abuse.

As shown in Table 5, primary care providers in Denmark, Finland, and Sweden routinely prescribe drugs electronically, with e-prescribing adoption rates at nearly 100 percent in each country.⁵² Eprescribing rates among primary care providers in the seven countries included in the 2006 Harris Interactive/Commonwealth Fund survey-Australia, Canada, Germany, the Netherlands, New Zealand, the United Kingdom, and the United States-varied widely. The Netherlands, with 85 percent of primary care physicians routinely prescribing medicine electronically, had the highest rate of e-prescribing among primary care providers, followed by Australia at 81 percent and New Zealand at 78 percent.⁵³ The United States lagged significantly behind these countries in 2006, with only 20 percent of primary care providers reporting that they routinely prescribe medicine electronically.⁵⁴

Table 5: Use of Electronic Prescribing by PrimaryCare Physicians

Country	Percent of Primary Care Physicians Using E-Prescribing
Australia	81
Canada	11
Denmark	100
Finland	100
Germany	59
The Netherlands	85
New Zealand	78
Sweden	100
United Kingdom	55
United States	20

The electronic transmission of prescriptions from the physician at the point of care to the dispensing pharmacy requires connectivity between the provider's office, the pharmacy, and sometimes other intermediaries (e.g., pharmacy benefit manager, health plan). In many countries, the progress with respect to the electronic transmission of prescriptions to the pharmacy lags behind the use of computers to order prescriptions. In Germany, for example, 59 percent of doctors reported the ability to order prescriptions electronically, but the electronic transmission of prescriptions to the pharmacy in that country is uncommon.⁵⁵

Table 6 compares three Nordic countries, the United Kingdom, and the United States with respect to the routine electronic transmission of prescriptions by primary care physicians. In the United Kingdom where 55 percent of primary care physicians surveyed reported e-prescribing capabilities, only 24 percent of daily prescription messages are transmitted through the United Kingdom's Electronic Prescription Service.⁵⁶

Denmark and Sweden rank high in the electronic transmission of prescriptions to pharmacies. In Denmark, 85 percent of prescriptions were transmitted electronically as of 2003 and today virtually every doctor transmits prescriptions electronically.57 Sweden has rapidly deployed eprescribing throughout the country. In 2004, only 25 percent of prescriptions in Sweden were transmitted electronically; as of October 2008, 75 percent of all prescriptions were being transmitted electronically directly to a pharmacy.58 Finland ran an e-prescribing pilot project between 2004 and 2006 but discontinued the project. Thus, although Finnish physicians almost universally have access to an EHR system that allows prescription entry at present, they cannot transmit prescriptions electronically to the pharmacy.⁵⁹

The number of prescriptions transmitted electronically in the United States has been growing rapidly in recent years, but still represents only a small fraction of all the prescriptions written. In 2007, 35 million prescriptions in the United States were transmitted electronically (2 percent); in 2008, the number increased to 100 million (7 percent).⁶⁰ In addition, health care providers in the United States have transitioned

from the use of standalone e-prescribing systems to the use of integrated EHR systems with eprescribing capabilities. In 2004, 95 percent of eprescriptions in the United States were created using a standalone application; in 2008, 40 percent of prescriptions were created using a standalone system and 60 percent were created using an EHR system.

Table 6: Electronic	Transmission of	Prescriptions
by Primary Care Ph	ysicians	

Country	Percent of Primary Care Physicians Using Electronic Transmission of Prescriptions
Denmark	100
Finland	0
Sweden	75
United Kingdom	24
United States	7

Availability of Online Health Portals

Online health portals provide individuals a single destination to access online web-based applications and services to manage their various health care needs. Health portals range from basic portals that provide patients with basic medical information on illnesses and drugs, to more advanced portals that provide online access to health care services, to even more advanced portals that provide access to personalized medical information. The development of e-health portals is in line with a broader trend in health care to use IT to create a more patient-centric approach to health care. Patient-centric e-health portals help empower individuals and others to make good medical decisions.

Several developed countries have government-run e-health portals that provide individuals with access to information related to medicine and health care. A 2009 survey of European countries found that Denmark, Estonia, Finland, Portugal, Sweden, and the United Kingdom provided 24/7 access to Web or phone-based health care information. Other countries, including Germany, the Netherlands, and Norway, provided less access

Box 1: Technologies for Reducing Medication Errors in Hospitals

According to the Institute of Medicine, medication errors are among the most common medical errors, harming at least 1.5 million people in the United States every year.⁶¹ In hospitals, errors are common during every step of the medication process—procuring the drug, prescribing it, dispensing it, administering it, and monitoring its impact—but they occur most frequently during the prescribing and administering stages. These medication errors are undoubtedly costly—to patients, their families, their employers, and to hospitals, health-care providers, and insurance companies.

To improve patient safety by reducing medication errors, some U.S. hospitals have invested in technologies that rely on health IT for dispensing and administering medications. As of 2006, 61.8 percent of hospitals in the United States used automated dispensing machines, 7 percent used robots, and 26.1 percent relied on barcoding to help prevent medication errors. The goal of these initiatives is to eliminate some forms of human error, such as misreading a medication label of similarly named drugs or misreading dosage information while dispensing or administering medications.

In 2004, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) mandated that all human medications have machine-readable National Drug Code-format barcodes on their labels by 2006. It has been estimated that this change will prevent almost 500,000 adverse events and errors over 20 years and save \$93 billion.⁶² Automated dispensing machines and robots can function because pharmaceutical companies place bar codes on the drugs they manufacture.

Automated dispensing machines can help hospitals ensure accurate medication dispensing to prevent medication errors; can help ensure medication is available to doctors and nurses in an emergency or when the pharmacy is closed; and can make hospital billing and inventory maintenance more efficient and accurate.

A drug-dispensing robot can similarly help prevent medication errors. St. Francis Hospital and Medical Center in Hartford, Connecticut, implemented such a robot in 2003. As described by one reporter, "each vial of medicine moves along a kind of production line until the machine spits out the finished syringe. Load the device with vials of the most prescribed medicines, and it begins filling a prescription by grabbing the appropriate drug vial and reading the bar code. The machine then shoots four digital photographs of the vial label, removes the cap and swabs the vial with alcohol. If the drug is a powder or concentrated liquid, the machine will mix in the correct amount of liquid. Then the device inserts a needle into the vial, extracts the needed amount of medicine and fills an intravenous syringe."⁶³

To reduce errors when administering drugs to hospitalized patients (e.g., when a nurse gives medication to a patient), hospitals use barcoding at medication administration and electronic medication administration records. Studies have found that using barcoding at medication administration can reduce errors by 65 percent to 85 percent.⁶⁴ A 2006 study found few hospitals use barcoding at medication administration with adoption levels at only 4.7 percent. The 2006 study found higher rates of use of electronic medication administration records with adoption at 25.9 percent of U.S. hospitals.⁶⁵ Providing prepackaged, patient-specific medication with barcodes, for example, allows a nurse to use a computer to verify that the right patient is receiving the right medicine at the right dosage at the right time.⁶⁶ Using this technology also reduces the workload on nurses allowing them to focus on other care-giving tasks. In Canada, Centre hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal (CHUM) estimates that the robotics system it implemented has allowed nurses to devote 30 more minutes per day to other patient-care activities.⁶⁷

to such information.⁶⁸ The range of functions available on government-sponsored health portals varies from country to country, depending on factors that include the types of health services provided by the government.

Denmark has the most advanced government-run e-health portal. Denmark's online health portalcalled Sundhed.dk ("sundhed" means "health" in Danish)-provides a public destination for exchanging health information between patients and health care providers. The portal was launched in 2003 with the purpose of bringing together electronic communication between patients and the health care service, and the portal is part of the common infrastructure in the health care sector in Denmark. The portal is designed to provide patients access to various services (e.g., viewing an individual's hospital records, booking appointments, sending e-mail to health care

providers, ordering medication and renewing prescriptions, and registering for organ donation).⁶⁹ Each patient in Denmark has a custom webpage with information relevant to his or her own medical history. Thus, for example, Danish patients who have diabetes might participate in а

diabetes management system that allows them to better understand their medical history, treatment options, and self-care regimen. Danish citizens can also use the portal to check hospital quality ratings and discover where they can find the shortest waitlists for specific treatments.⁷⁰ The e-health portal Sundhed.dk has long been popular with Danish citizens, with analysts reporting that as early as 2004 it captured approximately 40 percent of the health care related Internet traffic in Denmark.⁷¹

Sweden's national e-health portal—called 1177.se (the portal's name, 1777, refers to the number that individuals can call for 24/7 access to expert health information)—was designed by Swedish Healthcare Direct (SVR AB) to provide a government-sponsored outlet for trusted health information. The online portal was launched in 1998, reflecting Sweden's early start in developing health IT applications designed to improve the experience for patients. Sweden's e-health portal does not link to patients' EHRs the way Denmark's national portal does and is not as rich in content as the health portals in some other nations. Nevertheless, Sweden's 1177.se portal received over 1 million visitors per month in 2008.⁷² The Swedish government plans to introduce additional online services in 2009 to allow users to complete common tasks such as scheduling medical appointments and renewing prescriptions.

Finland's national e-health portal—called TerveSuomi (HealthFinland)—is being developed to provide citizens with online access to timely and relevant health care information. This online portal does not offer access to patients' electronic health

The e-health portal Sundhed.dk has long been popular with Danish citizens, with analysts reporting that as early as 2004 it captured approximately 40 percent of the health care related Internet traffic in Denmark. records or to online health services. although these functionalities may be added at a later date. Finland's government is designing TerveSuomi to use semantic Web technology to solve many problems with publishing health information online, such as difficulty in finding the right

information, duplication of effort, and a lack of quality control. All of the content created for TerveSuomi is designed to be shared and reused by any third-party website or application. In addition, Finland's government is developing common metadata standards and ontologies so that data can be easily aggregated from multiple publishers. Finally, developers are including intelligent search capabilities in TerveSuomi to help ensure that citizens can locate desired health information without needing to know medical jargon.⁷³

The United Kingdom's National Health Service (NHS) has a national e-health portal— called NHS Direct—that was designed to point people in the right direction for the most appropriate form of treatment and encourage the best use of health services.⁷⁴ The NHS Direct portal provides a variety of options for giving citizens health advice and information. It provides a 24/7 telephone number for health information, and individuals in the United Kingdom can submit health care questions online and receive a response by e-mail or on a secure website for patients with shared e-mail accounts.

Moreover, NHS Direct hosts a website called provides NHS Choices. which in-depth information on medical conditions, treatment options, and drug information. Individuals can use NHS Choices to look up answers to common medical questions, use an online self-help guide, or get help on first aid. In addition, NHS Choices provides extensive resources for finding health care providers such as GPs, dentists, pharmacies, and opticians. Many of these tools promote patient empowerment-from guides that teach citizens about their health care rights with the NHS to health guides that provide flow charts for health care encounters so patients will know what to expect for treatment of various conditions.

The NHS has also created an online service called

Choose and Book, which lets patients create and manage appointments with specialists at registered hospitals and clinics. With Choose and Book, patients are able to choose the specialist and appointment time that is most convenient to their own schedule. In the past, the hospital received a referral letter from a primary care provider and then booked a patient for any available slot. The new service also helps ensure that the NHS can guarantee that no patient must wait longer than 13 weeks to see a specialist.⁷⁵ Currently, more than 90 percent of primary care providers in the United Kingdom use the service (at least part of the time), and 50 percent of all NHS referral activity goes through this application.⁷⁶

In the United States, the federal government is one of the top sources of health information. Some government websites, such as Cancer.gov or AIDS.gov, provide first-rate resources for information on specific diseases and conditions. The U.S. National Institutes of Health also hosts PubMed, a database of biomedical research, and MedlinePlus, an online resource for health and drug information. In contrast to some European countries, however, the U.S. government has not

Box 2: Nationally Standardized Machine-Readable Patient ID Cards in the United States

In contrast to many European and Asian countries which use smart cards as electronic identification for health care encounters or to store medical information, most patient ID cards issued by health insurers in the United States today are not standardized and cannot be read by machines the way credit cards can be. Thus, health care providers have to waste time and money in making copies of the cards or manually entering patients' data from the cards. This process is administratively inefficient. It is also prone to errors, which frequently result in denied insurance claims that must be resubmitted.

The Medical Group Management Association (MGMA), which represents physician group practice administrators in the United States, estimates that widespread adoption of interoperable, machine-readable patient ID cards in U.S. hospitals and providers' offices could save up to \$1 billion annually in administrative costs.⁷⁷ Although standards for patient ID cards were developed as early as 1997, most health insurers in the United States, including Medicare, have not implemented them.⁷⁸

In 2009, MGMA launched Project SwipeIT—a nationwide campaign to get all major health insurers, including government insurers such as Medicare and Medicaid, to commit to using a single machine-readable standard for patient ID cards by 2010. An increasing number of private health care insurers and providers are supporting the development of a standardized, machine-readable patient ID card. One large private insurer, UnitedHealth, announced plans to provide 25 million machine-readable patient ID cards by the end of 2009.⁷⁹

Box 3: Self-Serve Computer Kiosks in Hospitals

Self-serve computer kiosks can be used by hospitals to automate a number of patient interactions. They can be used to facilitate patient management activities such as patient admission, discharge, and transfer. Kiosks can also be used to process copayments, receive patient consent forms, collect demographic data, perform clinical prescreening, and perform satisfaction surveys. Another common application of kiosks in hospitals is for way-finding (i.e., patients getting directions to their appointments). Finally, kiosks can offer all of these services in multiple languages. Kiosks benefit hospitals by freeing nurses and hospital staff from routine activities and allowing them to work more efficiently. Patients benefit from kiosks by experiencing shorter waiting times, more convenience, and more privacy.⁸²

Currently, only a small percentage of U.S. hospitals have such kiosks. A 2008 survey of hospitals found no more than 5 percent of hospitals had adopted kiosks for most patient management activities. The same survey found that 13 percent of hospitals had a patient kiosk for way-finding.⁸³

developed a single comprehensive e-health portal, and some government-sponsored online health portals that aspire to be patient-centric really are not user friendly. To take just a few examples, healthfinder.gov bills itself as "Your Source for Reliable Health Information" and provides numerous links to both government and nongovernment health resources. The bare-bones website health.gov calls itself "a portal to the Web sites of a number of multi-agency health initiatives and activities" but it is underdeveloped and lacks much content. And finally USA.gov, with the tagline "Government Made Easy," simply provides a directory of links to other resources.

Some private sector companies in the United States are developing patient-centric online health portals, including ones that maintain personal health records (e.g., Revolution Health, WebMD, and Microsoft HealthVault). Moreover, several hospitals and health insurers in the United States are using online patient portals to provide access to a variety of services they offer. The use of patient portals in hospitals in the United States has been growing, from approximately 32 percent of hospitals in 2006 to 37 percent of hospitals in 2008.80 Kaiser Permanente, the largest not-forprofit health plan, launched an online portal to give patients access to laboratory results, scheduled appointments, and tools to communicate with their providers. As of April 2009, 3 million Kaiser Permanente members had signed up for online access.81

Online portals are also a component of health record data banks, which have been proposed as an alternative to health information exchanges. To date, no health record data bank has been fully implemented at the state level, but the proposed model would function along the following lines.⁸⁴ An individual selects a health record data bank entity to be a secure repository of his or her health information and opens an account with that entity. The individual's doctors submit to the health record data bank an electronic record of any health care encounter, including any clinical notes, test results, and prescriptions in a standard electronic data format. The individual uses an online portal to access his or her medical records online in the health record bank and is able to control who is permitted to access his or her personal information. By creating a central repository for all of a patient's medical information that is controlled by the patient rather than the provider, health record data banks eliminate many interoperability and privacy challenges associated with health information exchanges.⁸⁵ Health record data banks also create a sustainable business model: patients or health insurers pay health record data banks a fee to manage their electronic health information, and health record data banks, in turn, pay health care providers to electronically transmit their updates after every health care encounter. Various state and city-level projects, including projects in Washington, Oregon, Louisville, and Kansas City, are exploring the use

of health record data banks as an alternative to health information exchanges.⁸⁶

Implementation of Telehealth

The degree to which a country has embraced health IT may be reflected in part in the extent to which the country has embraced health care applications delivered via telecommunications or "telehealth" (also referred to as "telemedicine"). Telehealth can be applied to almost any medical field from telepathology to telesurgery to teledermatology to help eliminate geography as a barrier to receiving quality health care services. Although countries with large rural populations may be more likely to promote telehealth applications to bring quality medical care to rural

residents, all health care systems can benefit when patients can use telecommunications to more easily receive care and health care providers can use telecommunications to facilitate the provision of care.

The idea of telemedicine is not new. In 1965, one of the

first applications of COMSAT's first satellite "Early Bird" was to demonstrate the possibility of global telemedicine by broadcasting an open-heart surgery from the United States to Geneva, Switzerland.⁸⁷ Much of the initial research on telemedicine was conducted by the National Aeronautics and Space Administration for monitoring the health of astronauts in space and to provide them care when a specialist could not treat them in person. Today telehealth encompasses a variety of applications and services including rural e-health care centers, in-home patient monitoring, electronic intensive care units (eICUs), and telesurgery. In addition, broadband Internet connections allow doctors and patients to interact and communicate over video links and participate in remote consultations with health care providers.

Unlike many of the technologies discussed above, telehealth is a tool to increase access to care and save time and money rather than a best practice. There are no clear metrics to measure the level of telehealth adoption. Nevertheless, it appears that many countries have been active in fostering telehealth, although many projects are still in the early stages.

Sweden has long been a pioneer with telehealth applications. In 1922, it launched a "sea-to-shore" program to provide medical consultations to Swedish ships from Sahlgren University Hospital, a service that is still in use today.⁸⁸ In addition, using Sjunet, the national health care network, Sweden has implemented telehealth applications such as teleradiology, telepathology, and videoconferencing services.

Denmark, too, has used its national health care

In 1965, one of the first applications of COMSAT's first satellite "Early Bird" was to demonstrate the possibility of global telemedicine by broadcasting an open-heart surgery from the United States to Geneva, Switzerland. network to implement various telehealth programs from remote consultations to in-home therapy. The goal of these programs is to improve the quality of health care available to Danish citizens and make health care available closer to the patient's home. The Danish Centre for Health

Telematics, which has been integrated into MedCom, has sponsored multiple programs to build useful telehealth applications. Among these are a national teledermatology project that allows patients to receive online consultations for skin conditions and a tele-alcohol-abuse-treatment program to improve participation rates for patients who do not, or cannot, attend in-person meetings.⁸⁹

Finland was also an early adopter of telehealth applications, for example, the use of video teleconferencing in health care. Video teleconferencing is used to provide patients with consultations from specialists. Patients in regional health care centers in Finland can attend a videoconference session with their primary care provider and a nurse; at another location at a hospital, the specialists can provide consultation through video conferencing in 14 of Finland's 21

Box 4: Remote Electronic Intensive Care Units

The provision of around-the-clock care to critically ill patients in ICUs by physicians who specialize in their care (intensivists) is considered key to improving outcomes for critically ill patients, but some hospitals cannot provide such care because of a shortage of intensivists. Recently, some hospitals have used telemedicine to improve care for critically ill patients via remote electronic intensive care units (eICUs). Remote eICUs allow a team of intensivists to monitor critically ill patients in the hospital continuously using streaming video, EHRs, and remote sensors, so that they can coordinate care with the physicians and nurses who are caring for these patients in the hospital.

A health system in Kansas City, for example, implemented an eICU to leverage its limited intensivists and standardize clinical practices and processes in its seven hospitals. Researchers found that this initiative reduced the health system's ICU and hospital mortality rates.⁹³ In addition, it reduced the length of stay for patients in the ICU and hospital, a factor that strongly influences hospital costs.⁹⁴ A study of the first major eICU installation similarly found that the hospital reduced mortality by 27 percent and reduced the costs per ICU case by 25 percent.⁹⁵ In the United States, hospital adoption of eICUs is still low—fewer than 50 hospitals had implemented eICUs by late 2007.⁹⁶

hospital districts, and patients can participate at 17 percent of the health care centers nationwide.

Australia and New Zealand showed an early commitment to telehealth by creating the Australian New Zealand Telehealth Committee (ANZTC) in 1997. ANTZC operated until 2001 working to devise a joint national telehealth strategy. In Australia, the activities of ANTZC were later assumed by the Australian HealthConnect office, which in 2007 was integrated by the Australian Department of Health and Aging. Between 1997 and 2000 the number of telehealth applications more than doubled. Approximately 42 percent of the telehealth programs focused on clinical applications with the second most common application (37 percent) being for professional education and training. Within clinical telehealth applications, the largest single disciplines in 2000 were for mental health (32 percent) and radiology (14 percent).⁹⁰ A survey in 2000 found that most public hospitals in New Zealand had video-conferencing capabilities but these capabilities were limited primarily to nonclinical applications, such as conducting meetings or interviewing overseas job applicants. Between 2000 and 2003, the number of telemedicine applications in New Zealand grew slowly, from 10 projects in 2000 to 22 projects in 2003. The most common of these projects were teleradiology and telepsychiatry projects.⁹¹

A 2007 study found that Japan has implemented over 1,000 telemedicine projects. These projects have principally focused on teleradiology (37 percent) and home telecare (33 percent). In the past 10 years, Japan has also made a fourfold increase in the number of telepathology projects. Researchers suggest that one reason for Japan's growth in teleradiology and telepathology is that these specialists tend to be located in a few academic locations.⁹²

Japan's home telecare initiatives are most common in rural areas, where 70 percent of the projects have been implemented.⁹⁷ Home telecare projects provide an important alternative to hospital-based care for Japan's aging population. Home telemonitoring allows patients to submit test results from their residence to their care provider over the Internet. To take one chronic illness as an example, patients with diabetes in Japan can use home telecare programs to automatically send in updates to their caregiver about their personal health. Electronic devices can transmit a patient's daily blood glucose measurements, and doctors can remotely monitor the patient's health and manage the patient's care without requiring as many office visits. Not only is this a convenience to the patient, it also leads to better medical outcomes. A recent study found diabetes patients' participation in a telecare program resulted in significantly fewer deaths.⁹⁸

In the United States, telehealth programs will likely continue to grow in importance as a tool for providing quality of care for patients with chronic conditions. Currently, for example, one out of every four patients receiving care in the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs has diabetes. As shown in Table 7, some U.S. hospitals already are focusing on using telehealth for patients with chronic conditions like diabetes, congestive heart failure, and heart disease.

Table7:Use of Internet-Enabled MonitoringDevices in U.S. Hospitals, by Condition99

Condition	Percentage of U.S. Hospitals that Have Patients Submit Self- Test Results Online
Asthma	5
Diabetes	12
Cancer	2
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)	6
Congestive heart failure	10
Heart disease	11

Teleradiology

Teleradiology-the use of high-speed networks to deliver medical images, such as radiographs or computed tomography (CT) scans, to radiologists working at another location-is one indicator of a nation's progress in the realm of telehealth. With teleradiology patients can receive better, more efficient care. The radiologists viewing the medical images may be located at home, in another building or perhaps even in another country. The ease with which medical images can be shared means that physicians can request a consult or second opinion from a specialist. Teleradiology has revolutionized the field of radiology by making access to such services available to even the smallest practices. In addition, hospitals can use teleradiology to provide on-call or overnight radiology services. Mobile teleradiology also allows doctors to bring higher quality care to rural patients.

Denmark has launched various teleradiology programs to give physicians more flexible access to

diagnostic images. The Department of Neurology at the Odense University Hospital, for example, implemented a teleradiology program so that a specialist could determine if patients from neighboring hospitals needed priority admittance to receive treatment from neurosurgeons at the Odense University Hospital. Using this program, patients with less serious cases can receive treatment locally and avoid an unnecessary transfer.¹⁰⁰ Teleradiology is now common in much of Denmark. As of 2006, 7 of the 14 counties in Denmark had linked together their Radiography Information Systems (RIS) or Picture Archiving and Communication Systems (PACS).¹⁰¹ Denmark also participates in Baltic eHealth, a joint project with Sweden and Norway, designed to improve cross-border resource sharing between hospitals. In this project, Danish doctors send medical images for analysis to Estonia and Lithuania.

Finland was an early promoter of teleradiology, and by 1994, all five university hospitals in the country had implemented teleradiology services.¹⁰² By 2005, 18 hospital districts out of the 21 such districts in Finland had implemented at least a regional teleradiology program. Finland has also seen rapid adoption of PACS. In 2003, only 6 of the 21 Finnish hospital districts reported heavy usage of PACS. By 2007, all 21 Finnish hospital districts had implemented PACS and were producing over 90 percent of their medical images digitally. Moreover, all 21 hospital districts also provided some form of electronic distribution for digital radiological images.¹⁰³ In addition, many primary care physicians have access to digital images stored at regional hospitals. Approximately half (49 percent) of the Finnish regional health care centers use PACS. Rather than develop their own PACS, most of the regional health care centers work with the existing system at a regional hospital.¹⁰⁴

Sweden, too, has widely implemented teleradiology. In 2003, the Sollefteå and Borås hospitals implemented teleradiology programs to cut costs, reduce waiting times, and respond to a shortage of radiologists in Sweden. By establishing a teleradiology program with Telemedicine Clinic in Barcelona, Spain, these Swedish hospitals could send nonurgent magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and CT images to remote specialists for analysis, thereby reducing the need for the hospitals to hire additional radiologists. The hospitals also received immediate financial benefits with the cost per scan analysis decreasing by approximately 35 percent. Patients have also benefited, with waiting times reduced by almost half.¹⁰⁵ By 2004, most Swedish hospitals had access to teleradiology. Many Swedish hospitals also use teleradiology to provide radiologists access to medical images at home or between departments.¹⁰⁶

The implementation of teleradiology has also been growing in Australia and the United Kingdom. As of 2004, 30 percent of public Australian hospitals (representing about 65 percent of the national total hospital beds) had implemented PACS.¹⁰⁷ The growth of PACS technology in Australia has been largely driven by a combination of the benefits of such systems and the government mandate that adult images be stored for 5 years to 7 years and children's images stored for 21 years to 25 years. In the United Kingdom, the National Health Service (NHS) implemented PACS to create a completely filmless electronic medical imaging system for nationwide use. PACS creates a number of benefits including cost savings from film and film storage and more flexibility in capturing, storing and distributing medical images. PACS is a centralized system developed so that the NHS can manage the security and privacy features governing the image database. The NHS has implemented role-based security features that limit access to private medical information based on each individual's role in the health care process.¹⁰⁸ As of December 2007, the NHS has deployed PACS to every acute care hospital in the United Kingdom.¹⁰⁹

In the United States, a 2003 study found that 78 percent of all radiologists reported using teleradiology. The most commonly reported use of teleradiology in this study was to enable radiologists to work from home. Despite a few popular stories to the contrary, offshore teleradiology services are not common in the United States, accounting for less than 0.1 percent of the teleradiology workforce.¹¹⁰ Various factors contribute to the low levels of offshoring of teleradiology services, including stringent licensing requirements, a shortage of qualified radiologists overseas, and the refusal of Medicare and Medicaid to provide reimbursements for medical services performed overseas.¹¹¹

Part II: Lessons from Global Leaders in Health IT

s discussed in the previous section, three Nordic countries-Denmark, Finland, and Sweden—have an advanced, patientcentric health care system that uses IT to improve the quality and efficiency of the care provided to its citizens. To recap, an electronic health record (EHR) system is the foundation of more advanced health care applications, and in this regard, all of these countries lead their peers. Denmark, Finland, and Sweden have near universal usage of EHR systems among primary care providers. Most hospitals in Finland and Sweden also have EHR systems in place. Denmark has an above-average rate of adoption of EHR systems in hospitals, and adoption should be near universal in the next few years.¹¹² Moreover, these three Nordic countries lead in the use of other health IT applications, including the use of CPOE to order medical tests, the electronic prescribing of medicine, the use of telehealth applications, including teleradiology, and online health portals. Finally, Denmark, Finland,

and Sweden have significant efforts in-place and indevelopment to facilitate the electronic exchange of clinical data including prescriptions, laboratory results, medical images, and hospital orders.

The degree of success or failure a country experiences with health IT depends on many factors. Although no single approach to deploying health IT will work in all countries, many lessons can be learned from the global leaders. In this section, we analyze various factors that have the potential to affect health IT adoption among countries. These factors include organizational (e.g., leadership, health care system organization financing), political (e.g., incentives, and mandates), institutional (e.g., population size, structure of the health care sector, cultural factors, privacy issues), and technological factors (e.g., common infrastructure, standards, unique patient identifiers). We focus our analysis on the global leaders in health IT-Denmark, Finland, and Sweden-but also use examples from other countries with demonstrated success in health IT, including the Netherlands, New Zealand, and the United Kingdom.

National Leadership to Promote Health IT Adoption

Perhaps no factor is more important in explaining why some countries lead in health IT adoption than strong national-level leadership. Implementing health IT involves a complex set of relationships among individuals and organizations with competing goals and priorities. Moreover, as discussed above, health IT involves numerous societal (spillover) benefits that the market does not adequately capture, as well as benefits that may accrue to entities other than the entities that implement health IT systems.

The global leaders—Denmark, Finland, and Sweden—have all implemented national-level strategies to drive and coordinate health IT

and coordinate health IT adoption. Other developed countries with high levels of health IT adoption, including the United Kingdom and the Netherlands, similarly have designed national policies in pursuit of this goal. Rather than simply letting the

market drive adoption or waiting for the adoption of health IT to occur gradually, the nations that lead in health IT adoption have developed aggressive and coordinated strategies to organize the various actors and overcome barriers to health IT adoption. Many national health IT initiatives in developed countries have been driven by goals such as improved patient safety, better quality care, and overall cost savings.

Denmark and Finland stand out for having the foresight to establish a national vision for health IT adoption well before other countries reached the same conclusion. But their higher level of adoption of health IT is not necessarily just the result of their having a head start. In a 2002 survey of European EHR adoption, Denmark and Finland came in third and fifth respectively,

The global leaders—Denmark, Finland, and Sweden—have all implemented national-level strategies to drive and coordinate health IT adoption. behind Sweden, the Netherlands, and the United Kingdom.¹¹³ Denmark and Finland are certainly ahead of the curve in part because they started earlier, but much of their success in health IT can be credited to the clear goals they established, the formal institutions they created to pursue these goals, and the commitments they have made to regularly revisit and renew their national e-health strategies.

Denmark, for example, has shown early and continuous efforts in developing and revising its national health IT strategy. Although the health care delivery system is distributed throughout local regional authorities, Denmark's Ministry of Health acts as the central organization for coordinating activities between the counties and planning a national vision for health care. The first national ehealth plan in Denmark began in 1994, when

Much of the success of Denmark and

Finland in health IT can be credited to the

clear goals they established, the formal

institutions they created to pursue these

goals, and the commitments they have made

to regularly revisit and renew their national

e-health strategies.

Denmark's Ministry of Research published objectives for developing an "information society" by 2000. Denmark's Ministry of Health followed up on this publication by developing an "Action Plan for Electronic Health Records" in 1996. The Ministry of Health created a parallel effort in 2000 by outlining a national

strategy for health IT use in hospitals. Denmark's Ministry of Health again revised the national strategy in 2003 and focused the national efforts on using IT to directly improve health care service. Denmark's national health IT efforts have been led by MedCom, a cooperative venture between authorities, organizations, and private firms linked to the Danish health care sector that was first established in 1994 to manage certain health IT projects. In 1999, MedCom was made permanent to "contribute to the development, testing, dissemination and quality assurance of electronic communication and information in the health care sector with a view to supporting good patient progression."¹¹⁴ In 2001 the Danish Regions brought together the public partners running the health care sector in Denmark and jointly established a non-profit organization, the Danish

National e-Health Portal-Sundhed.dk. The ehealth portal is run by a political board with members from the Danish Regions, the Ministry of Health. the Association of Danish Municipalities, and the Association of Pharmacies. Although these early efforts in Denmark resulted in substantial progress, in June 2006, Denmark's Ministry of Health, the Danish Regions, and the municipality association came together to form a new. cross-governmental organization-Connected Digital Health in Denmark (Digital Health)-to coordinate health IT initiatives between different government organizations and ensure that the nation follows a clear and consistent national health IT strategy.¹¹⁵ In 2007, Digital Health created a new four-year national strategy to further apply IT to health care. The new strategy emphasizes participation by more health care actors and a stronger role of the

national government.¹¹⁶

Like Denmark, Finland was early in establishing а national strategy for health IΤ adoption. In 1996, Finland's Ministry of Social Affairs and Health established the first strategy focused on using IT to create a more integrated, patientfocused health care system.

The government revised the strategy in 1998 to target specific goals for health IT, including an EHR for every patient, interoperability with legacy systems, and high levels of security and privacy.¹¹⁷ Since 1998, Finland has launched a number of initiatives to further the adoption of health IT, one being to move toward the goal of nationwide EHR adoption by 2007. The Finnish e-health strategy was structured so that the initial priority was implementing tools for health care providers, such as sharing patients' information, and the secondary priority was developing e-health services for citizens.¹¹⁸

Sweden, too, has established an early lead in applying IT to health care through coordination at the national level, although a true national strategy for health IT in Sweden did not materialize until

2006.¹¹⁹ In 2000, Sweden's Federation of County Councils, the Association of Local Authorities, the Private Health and Social Care Employers' Association, and the National Co-operation of Swedish Pharmacies (Apoteket AB) formed an organization called Carelink to coordinate the use of health IT projects throughout the country by working with different health care partners. Carelink focused on developing support services and a common infrastructure such as Sjunet, a network for secure private health care organizations, directory services, and information security applications.¹²⁰ In 2002, Sweden's Ministry of Health published "Vård ITiden" a report proposing strategies for making broader use of IT in health care.¹²¹ In 2006, Sweden published its Strategy for eHealth laving out objectives in six action areas: laws and regulations, information structure, technical infrastructure, interoperable IT information systems, access to across organizational boundaries,

and accessibility for citizens. Although the Strategy for eHealth originated with Sweden's national government, the plan was developed in cooperation with the local authorities responsible for implementing

the program.¹²² In addition, each county and municipal council must formally adopt the strategy and plays an active role in the decision-making process. As of late 2008, all of the county councils had formally adopted the national strategy. Although many municipalities still need to adopt it, collaboration on the e-health strategy's goals has continued through the Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions. Sweden has also established a "national ICT steering committee" to coordinate future development of the national ehealth strategy with representation from various health care stakeholders.¹²³ This high degree of involvement by many stakeholders has allowed Sweden to develop a national strategy even with its decentralized health care system. As part of the Strategy for eHealth, Sweden's Ministry of Health and Social Affairs monitors and tracks progress on meeting the objectives of the strategy.

Perhaps one of the most striking differences in health IT policy between the United States and recognized leaders such as Denmark, Finland, and Sweden is an absence of a centralized strategy for deploying health IT. As one recent article describes it, "the U.S. approach, which the federal government has encouraged rather than led, has been to let regional organizations experiment with local initiatives."¹²⁴ The de facto strategy in the United States has focused on building the network from the bottom up by establishing regional health information organizations (RHIOs) or health information exchanges (HIEs). The U.S. approach, including until now its lack of national-level executive leadership, has failed to produce a nationwide system of interoperable EHR systems.¹²⁵ The majority of these regional initiatives are not yet operational, with only 57 HIEs operational out of 193 active HIEs nationwide.¹²⁶ Without strong national-level

leadership, progress will likely continue to be incremental at best.

While progress in the United States has been slow, one notable milestone occurred in February 2009 when the national health information

network came online and allowed data sharing for disability claims processing between MedVirginia, a RHIO, and the Social Security Administration. In addition, the recent U.S. stimulus legislationthe American Recovery and Reinvestment Actincluded a number of provisions to spur health IT adoption. One of the principal features of the health IT portion of the legislation was to codify and make permanent the Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology (ONC) in the Department of Health and Human Services. The ONC was previously created by executive authority, but the legislation made permanent the office and its role in directing the national strategy for health IT adoption. Importantly, Congress has directed the ONC to establish a national strategic plan for a national interoperable health information system and mandates that the plan be updated annually.¹²⁷ The

The U.S. approach, including until now its

lack of national-level executive leadership,

has failed to produce a nationwide system of

interoperable EHR systems.

burden is now on the current administration to build and execute a national strategy for health IT in the United States.

Health Care System Organization and Financing

The organization of a country's health care system and health care financing can have a significant impact on health IT adoption. In Denmark, Finland, and Sweden, and other countries with single-payer health care systems, the costs and benefits of investing in health IT systems are better aligned than they are in countries such as the United States, where multiple governmental and nongovernmental entities pay for health care. Moreover, in these nations governments can afford to take a longer term view and make investments that might not pay off fully in the short term. More government involvement in health care also leads to more accountability. One of the reasons that Finland and Denmark have achieved significantly higher rates of EHR adoption in hospitals than other countries is that their hospital systems are government-run. Thus, political leaders have direct accountability for the quality of the care delivered at these institutions, and the government can prioritize needed upgrades and recoup public investment in hospital IT systems.

Sweden's health care system is decentralized but emphasizes universal access to quality health care and is primarily supported by public financing. The country is divided into 21 county councils and regions responsible for providing primary care, hospital care, and psychiatric care to citizens. The county councils have authority and responsibility for the provision of health care, and most health care facilities are owned and operated by the county councils. County councils operate primary health care centers with salaried physicians and staff, but Sweden's National Board of Health and Welfare has supervisory authority over all health care personnel and issues medical licenses.¹²⁸ In addition, 290 municipalities in Sweden provide home care for the disabled and elderly. Sweden's health care system is primarily funded by taxes. The county councils and municipalities have taxation authority to finance health care services,

and local funding is supplemented by some national funding. Private medical practices remain common in some regions of Sweden, and physicians may be reimbursed by the county councils if they have an agreement in place. Although national level policies and organizations help coordinate activities between regional organizations, regional entities in Sweden have considerable autonomy in making decisions about the health care delivered to citizens in their jurisdiction.¹²⁹

Finland provides universal health care to all people living in the country. Each of the 399 municipalities in Finland is responsible for managing care for its residents and has authority to collect taxes for this purpose. Each municipality manages or comanages a health care center or regional health care organization that operates facilities where citizens can receive primary care. In 2007, Finland had 229 primary health care centers.¹³⁰ Such centers provide inpatient care, much like a hospital, and provide other health care services such as dental care and maternity care. Finland is divided into 20 hospital districts, and each hospital district operates publicly owned hospitals within its jurisdiction. There are a few private hospitals in Finland, but they represent less than 5 percent of the total hospital beds in the country. Private practices are common in Finland, with about 11 percent of all physicians in a fulltime private practice, and a quarter of all public health service doctors operating a private practice when they are off the clock.¹³¹ In general, all permanent residents of Finland qualify for Finland's National Health Insurance, which partially covers visits to private practice providers.132

The health care system in Denmark is also publicly funded: 85 percent of health care costs are financed through taxes and the majority of health care services are provided directly by the public sector.¹³³ Hospitals in Denmark are run by the public sector, and primary care providers work under contract for the counties. Primary care physicians generally work in private practices, and about one-fourth of them work in solo practices.¹³⁴ Physicians' earnings come from a combination of fee-for-service and per capita payments. In Denmark, however, primary care physicians have paid for EHR systems without additional financial support from the central government.¹³⁵ The Danish model emphasizes equal access to care regardless of the economic situation of the patient. Regional level authorities manage health care services for citizens within their region, and the national Ministry of Health provides guidance and support to ensure that the local authorities continuously work to improve health care delivery.

Governments in countries with single-payer health care systems may be more likely to invest in ehealth systems than countries like the United States because the benefits will accrue to those systems. Finland's national government has been the primary source of funding for health IT initiatives in that country. Between 2004 and 2007, Finland's Ministry of Social Affairs and Health

allocated €30 million per year for health IT projects, with a third of the monev distributed through the county councils and the rest distributed directly through ministry.¹³⁶ the This represents annual spending approximately of 0.02 percent of Finland's gross

domestic product (GDP). In addition, as discussed further below, Finland has recently launched a new €20 million project—referred to as KanTa—to further develop the national health IT infrastructure to enable the transfer and archiving of electronic patient records and electronic prescriptions.¹³⁷

The United Kingdom is another example of a single-payer health care system, where the government has made a large investment in health IT. In the United Kingdom, most doctors and hospitals are paid directly by the government, and an estimated 90 percent of acute hospital beds are in public hospitals.¹³⁸ The country's National Health Service (NHS) is one of the world's largest employers with over 1.3 million individuals on its payroll.¹³⁹ As a result, government can more directly enact broad changes in the health care

system while also receiving many of the cost savings benefits of health IT investments. Not surprisingly, the NHS National Programme for IT (NPfIT) is one of the most ambitious, and one of the most expensive, e-health programs in the world with a budget of ± 12.4 billion over 10 years.¹⁴⁰ On an annual basis, this program's budget represents spending of approximately 0.08 percent of GDP and 1.2 percent of the NHS budget.¹⁴¹

The United States, unlike Denmark, Finland, Sweden, and the United Kingdom, does not have a single-payer health care system. Thus, one of the principal barriers to health IT adoption by health care providers in the United States has been the asymmetrical relationship between the costs and the benefits of adopting EHR systems. Some health care providers choose not to implement EHR systems because the return on their investment does not always justify the cost.¹⁴²

> Many studies have demonstrated that health IT can lower the total cost of health care, but the savings from the adoption and use of health IT do not always flow to the health care providers who implement health IT. Currently, many of the benefits of investing in

health IT go not to the health care providers who implement such technology but to health insurers or patients.

Financial Incentives for Health IT

One of the principal barriers to health IT

adoption by health care providers in the

United States has been the asymmetrical

relationship between the costs and the

benefits of adopting EHR systems.

Researchers consistently identify the high initial cost of EHR systems as a barrier to more widespread health IT adoption.¹⁴³ Financial incentives for health IT adoption by health care providers therefore can be an effective policy tool to spur the use of health IT.

In Denmark, for example, early efforts to computerize medical practices relied on financial incentives. In the 1980s, Danish primary care physicians received small subsidies for submitting medical claims electronically by disk.¹⁴⁴ Financial incentives have also been used in the Netherlands. IT investments by health care providers in the Netherlands are tax deductible, and since 1991, Dutch primary care providers who use an IT system have received incentive payments for every patient and health care encounter.¹⁴⁵ The United Kingdom has used financial incentives to increase the use of EHR systems among primary care physicians. In 2003, the country's National Health Service (NHS) established large financial incentives for physicians to meet certain quality standards, thereby spurring the use of EHR systems.¹⁴⁶ Australia has established the Practice Incentives Program (PIP) to reward primary care providers that implement certain improvements, including the use of health IT applications, that boost quality of care. Australia's PIP has been a success, and "more than 91 percent of GPs receiving PIP payments use computers for prescribing and sending and receiving data electronically."147 Medical practices in Australia that meet PIP's requirements for health IT can receive up to AU\$50,000 annually in additional reimbursements from Medicare Australia.¹⁴⁸

The converse is also true—a lack of financial incentives can explain lower rates of health IT usage in some countries. In South Korea, the government offered financial incentives for CPOE and Picture Archiving and Communication Systems (PACS),¹⁴⁹ which led to their high use in hospitals, but did not offer any incentives for EHR systems in hospitals, partially explaining hospitals' low rate of adoption of such systems.¹⁵⁰

Similarly, the publicly funded health care system in Japan provides few financial incentives for small health care providers to adopt EHR systems. Currently, providers receive a bonus payment on the order of 25 cents per patient (30 yen) for adopting health IT.¹⁵¹ As noted earlier, EHR adoption rates among primary care providers in Japan is only around 10 percent. In cases where Japan has used incentives it has seen more success. In 2001, for example, Japan initiated the "Grand Design for the Development of Information Systems in the Health Care and Medical Fields" through the Ministry of Health, Labour, and Welfare. At that time, fewer than 2 percent of hospitals in Japan used EHR systems. One goal of the Grand Design was to increase the use of EHR systems in large hospitals to 60 percent by 2006. Although the overall rate of adoption of EHR systems by hospitals in Japan reached just 10 percent in 2008, the adoption rate among larger hospitals is significantly greater at 31.2 percent. Much of the progress in the adoption of EHR systems among larger hospitals in Japan can be credited to government subsidies to 249 hospitals, almost all of them large hospitals.¹⁵² Smaller hospitals did not receive government support nor have efforts been made to subsidize these hospitals. Providing more government incentives to spur private investment in EHR systems for hospitals in Japan may not be a very good idea. As one scholar notes, the reason for a lack of interest in public financing to spur private hospital adoption of health IT is an excess of hospitals: Japan, with just half the population of the United States, has roughly twice the number of hospitals as the United States.¹⁵³

Financial incentives for health IT have also been used in the United States, albeit only recently. In 2008, for example, the U.S. Congress passed the Medicare Improvements for Patients and Providers Act (MIPPA), which set up a system of financial incentives and penalties to encourage eprescribing. Beginning in 2009, doctors who submit prescriptions electronically will receive an additional 2 percent of their allowable Medicare charges. In 2012, the incentives end and doctors who do not use e-prescribing will be subject to penalties. This system has already shown its effectiveness, as suggested by the fact that eprescribing rose from 2 percent in 2007 to 7 percent in 2008.

The U.S. economic stimulus package enacted in 2009, the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act, also provided a system of incentives and penalties to encourage adoption of EHRs. In the stimulus package signed by President Obama, physicians can receive up to \$41,000 over five years in incentive payments if they are using a qualified EHR system. The incentive payments begin in fiscal year 2011 and continue through 2015. The plan structures the incentives so that early adopters receive the maximum benefit and those adopting after 2011 receive a smaller

incentive. After 2015, physicians who have not implemented such systems will begin to receive reduced Medicare and Medicaid payments-a 1 percent reduction in 2016, a 2 percent reduction in 2016, and a 3 percent reduction in 2017.¹⁵⁴ The U.S. Congressional Budget Office predicts that the incentives for health IT in the stimulus package will eventually result in 90 percent of doctors and 70 percent of hospitals adopting EHR systems by 2019.155 Yet other analysts have questioned the impact of the stimulus given the size of the incentives and penalties. One recent report argued that the stimulus bill provides most doctors an insufficient financial incentive to adopt EHRs because the costs of adoption including incentives are still greater than the penalties.¹⁵⁶ While the net societal benefit of EHR systems is positive, the cost savings to individual health care providers can be difficult to guarantee.

The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 also provides substantial funding to hospitals in the United States that implement "meaningful use" of EHR systems. The Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society (HIMSS) estimates that a "75-bed hospital could receive up to \$3.5 million in Medicare incentive payments while a 750-bed hospital could receive a maximum of \$11.2 million."¹⁵⁷ Another industry report by PricewaterhouseCoopers Health Research Institute estimates that a 500-bed hospital could receive around \$6.1 million in federal funding from the stimulus package. The report goes on to note that the same hospital could lose up to \$3.2 million in Medicare funding by 2015 if it fails to implement an EHR system. As an author of the report notes, "[the incentives are] a small carrot compared to the amount of resources it will take to deploy this technology over the next five years. If an organization wants to have an enterprise-wide EHR up and running by 2011, they've got to start now. The incentives eventually go away, and the stick will only get bigger."¹⁵⁸

Government Mandates to Spur Health IT

Apart from or in combination with financial incentives, government mandates also can help spur adoption of new technology. Governments can mandate either the use of specific functionality or the use of specific technology. Mandating specific functionality can be an effective means of tying the benefits of health IT to better health care outcomes. Requiring that health care providers be able to produce a list of all patients prescribed a certain medication, for example, is useful for drug safety.

Many countries use government mandates to achieve broad or universal health IT adoption. Denmark and Norway, for example, have achieved high rates of e-prescribing by making e-prescribing mandatory for primary care providers.¹⁵⁹ Denmark in particular has made effective use of mandates. Denmark requires primary care providers to issue all patient referrals to specialists electronically and maintain electronic clinical record using the MedCom standards. As of 2009, the providers must also offer online booking and e-mail consultations.¹⁶⁰ In Finland, the government has passed legislation requiring all health care providers, both public and private, to use the new national patient record system by April 2011. Pharmacies must also use the new e-prescribing service.¹⁶¹ And in Sweden, some counties have mandated the use of structured data in EHR systems to improve data quality and support the reuse of clinical data.¹⁶²

Government mandates have also driven nonclinical uses of health IT. In New Zealand, health IT adoption has been driven in part by a government mandate that doctors be able to submit claims and capture data electronically. Germany also spurred IT adoption among primary care providers by mandating electronic billing.¹⁶³ Sometimes health care mandates can have beneficial unintended consequences. As an example, legislation in Norway requires doctors to retain patient medical records, a requirement made much simpler and more cost-effective by using digital records. As a result, Norway is one of the few countries with "paper-light" offices where primary care providers keep few paper medical records.¹⁶⁴

The United States has used mandates for health IT only in a few cases for limited technical changes rather than to implement broad reform. The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) included a number of mandates for the privacy and security of electronic medical data and for electronic data interchange. Thus, for example, for electronic data interchange, HIPAA mandated the use of a single, unique identifier for all health care providers. As of May 2007, all providers were required to obtain a National Provider Identifier (NPI) to be used on transactions such as health care claims and prescriptions.¹⁶⁵

Size of a Country's Population

Large countries with a diverse group of stakeholders appear to be at a disadvantage when deploying health IT. Arguments can be made for both a positive and a negative correlation between a country's population size and health IT adoption. On the one hand, economies of scale would suggest that deploying health IT in larger countries would be cheaper and thus larger countries would

be more likely to have higher rates of health IT adoption. For example, building shared health IT infrastructure can help reduce overall costs, as the cost to provide a single IT solution to deliver a given service can be distributed

over multiple health care providers. Although larger countries would seem more inclined to invest in common infrastructure, as the cost can be distributed over a greater number of health care providers, examples of common infrastructure can be found in countries with smaller populations, such as Denmark, Finland, Sweden, and the Netherlands, as well as in countries with larger populations, such as the United Kingdom.

Conversely, smaller countries may be more likely to lead in health IT adoption because their smaller size allows easier coordination between various stakeholders. Indeed, a significant challenge with health IT is the difficulty of coordinating and bringing together various stakeholders to work towards a shared vision and overcome obstacles such as interoperability. Coordination is often easier in smaller countries in part because the ability to collaborate is closely related to the

Large countries with a diverse group of stakeholders appear to be at a disadvantage when deploying health IT.

number of competing stakeholders, such as the number of health IT vendors. Some mid-sized nations, like the United Kingdom, have also been able to achieve a level of success coordinating the deployment of health IT because they have a more centralized health care system.

Structural Issues in the Health Care Sector

Several structural issues in the health care sector can have a significant impact on technology adoption. These include the average size of medical practices, the number of vendors for health IT systems, and the number of competing pharmacies.

The average size of medical practices can influence health IT adoption. As noted earlier, the adoption of EHRs among primary care physicians in the United States is significantly higher in larger practices than in smaller practices. One reason for

> this is that the average cost per physician of adopting EHRs is higher for solo and small practices than for large practices. Larger practices can reduce the average cost of expenditures for hardware, software, and

training by spreading them across multiple doctors. Over time, it is likely that smaller medical practices will consolidate into larger practices to take advantage of the cost savings. Indeed, countries like Germany and the Netherlands have a high percentage of primary care physicians that work in solo practices. In Germany, 75 percent of primary care providers work in solo practices; in the Netherlands, the level is even greater at 80 percent. As a result, doctors in these countries are forming physician collectives or cooperatives to gain the benefits of working in a larger group, including common IT services.¹⁶⁶ Health IT adoption in the United States is made more difficult by the fact that over two-thirds of physicians work in solo or small group practices.¹⁶⁷

The number of vendors for health IT systems also affects the level of adoption of EHR systems fewer vendors often leads to increased interoperability and greater rates of adoption. Interoperability can become more difficult with a large number of vendors, especially in the absence of national standards, as the number of systems with which an application needs to exchange data increases. This means that it is easier to deploy applications requiring interoperability such as transmitting EHRs, laboratory results, or prescriptions. For example, Jha et al. report that the Netherlands and Germany have higher rates of EHR use in ambulatory care because of the relatively small number of vendors in the health IT market.¹⁶⁸ Denmark, too, has benefited from relatively few vendors. In 2003, 11 vendors provided 16 different IT systems to primary care providers, with three vendors making up 57 percent of the market.¹⁶⁹ In Sweden the number of EHR vendors has dropped from 26 in 1995 to fewer than 15 in 2006, with three vendors making up 95 percent of the market.¹⁷⁰ And in New Zealand, the entire EHR system market is comprised of four vendors, with one vendor holding an 80 percent market share.¹⁷¹ In contrast, the United States faces considerable challenges to interoperability with more than 200 EHR system vendors and many uncoordinated regional initiatives.¹⁷²

The number of competing pharmacies in a country similarly affects health IT adoption. This principle can be seen in a comparison of the pharmacy systems in Sweden and Finland. In Sweden, the government has had a historic monopoly on pharmacies. The National Co-operation of Swedish Pharmacies, Apoteket AB, has been the sole supplier of prescription and nonprescription drugs in Sweden since 1970. As of 2008, the company also owned all 878 pharmacies and 39 over-the-counter medicine shops.¹⁷³ Although Sweden is now opening up the pharmaceutical market to competition, the existing state monopoly on pharmaceuticals has made the process of implementing e-prescribing simpler than in a country with many competing retailers and IT systems. For example, Apoteket partnered with Medco Health Solutions to provide an automated electronic prescription-review system to improve patient safety by alerting pharmacists of potential problems, such as drug interactions from

prescriptions the patient's doctor may be unaware of. In addition, Apoteket AB has been able to play a leading role in Carelink, the national association of health care organizations, to promote health IT use in Sweden.¹⁷⁴

In contrast to Sweden with one dominant pharmacy, Finland has many small pharmacies. Pharmacies in Finland are highly regulated. Finland has approximately 600 pharmacies and 200 branch pharmacies. Most pharmacies are privately owned and no pharmacist may own more than one pharmacy and three branches, with the exception being the Helsinki University Pharmacy which has 15 subsidiaries.¹⁷⁵ A license is needed to operate a pharmacy and the number of licenses is tightly controlled by the government. Since the national government regulates drug prices this means that pharmacies do not compete on price but rather on service. This fact has led some to observe that Finland's pharmacists offer the best service in Europe, offering advice and consultations rather than just dispensing medicine as is common in many countries.¹⁷⁶ Nevertheless, the percentage of transmitted electronically prescriptions bv pharmacists in Finland is low. Part of the reason is that there is virtually no consolidation of pharmacies in Finland. In contrast, Sweden has a high level of electronic transmission of prescriptions in part because it has been easier to implement a national e-prescribing system with only one company. Apoteket, the national Swedish pharmacy chain, introduced the plan to adopt eprescribing nationally.¹⁷⁷

Denmark has had much more success with eprescribing than Finland even though its pharmacy system is similar. Denmark's pharmacy sector is highly regulated with oversight from the Ministry of Interior and Health and the Danish Medicines Agency.¹⁷⁸ The Danish government standardizes many practices throughout the country with the goal of ensuring that all citizens have easy and affordable access to medication. Thus, for example, the Danish government regulates drug prices and pharmacies receive a fixed profit on all pharmaceuticals and receive no additional profit for selling greater quantities or more expensive medicine.¹⁷⁹ In 2007, Denmark had 246 licensed

pharmacies operating in the country and 57 additional branch pharmacies. The national government determines the total number of pharmacies as well as their location. Much of Denmark's success with e-prescribing is a result of action taken by the national government. In 2007, the Danish Medicines Agency created an online service to transmit prescriptions electronically from doctors to pharmacies. Initially the program suffered from technical problems and delays; however, Denmark is now one of the leading countries in e-prescribing.¹⁸⁰ The Danish Pharmacy Association also created Apoteket.dk, a health portal for Danes that not only provides information on drugs and personal health, but also allows patients to order medicine online for delivery or pickup at their local pharmacy. To ensure the security of the system, customers must use a digital signature, provided by the national government, to purchase medicine electronically. Pharmacies can also offer online consultation for

their customers through online chat, webcams or e-mail.¹⁸¹

The United States has seen significant consolidation in its retail pharmacies over the past decade. Retail pharmacies, including

Walgreens, CVS Caremark, Rite Aid, and Wal-Mart, currently dominate the marketplace. The growth of chain pharmacies has resulted in a decline in the total pharmacies in the United States by 2,000 over the past 7 years to around 38,000 retail outlets.¹⁸² The landscape has also changed with the growth of mail-order pharmacies, such as Medco, Express Scripts, and CVS Caremark. As a result of consolidation, U.S. pharmacies show readiness for e-prescribing: nationwide 72 percent of pharmacies have joined the Pharmacy Health Information Exchange, including 97 percent of chain pharmacies.¹⁸³

Societal and Cultural Factors Related to Health IT

Societal and cultural factors can have a significant impact on health IT adoption, as evidenced in Nordic countries such as Denmark, Finland, and

In Denmark, for example, as early as 1998, patients would consider their doctor "second-rate" if he or she did not have a personal computer in the office.

Sweden. Such factors include the level of technological sophistication of the population, peer influences, and cultural norms.

It is little surprise that many of the Nordic and other countries leading in health IT adoption also rank high on other national indicators of technology adoption such as broadband or computer ownership. Denmark, Finland, Sweden, and the Netherlands, for example, all consistently rank among the top countries in broadband adoption.¹⁸⁴ In Denmark, 95 percent of the population has access to the Internet at home.¹⁸⁵ Residents of Finland also routinely use IT. Approximately 75 percent of Finnish households have a personal computer. Of those individuals in the age group 16-74, 79 percent have access to the Internet in the home.¹⁸⁶ Many of these countries see health IT adoption not as a standalone application, but rather as part of a broader government strategy to create a strong information society.

A high level of technological sophistication both reduces

A high level of technological sophistication both reduces resistance by doctors to change and helps stimulate demand from patients. Familiarity with technology leads to ease of use, and

helps diminish internal resistance to adopting health IT systems. For example, in Finland, virtually all primary care physicians use computers to store administrative data and have a computer in the room during a patient consultation. In addition, technological sophistication contributes to high expectations from patients to have their doctors use IT in health care. In Denmark, for example, as early as 1998, patients would consider their doctor "second-rate" if he or she did not have a personal computer in the office.¹⁸⁷ Today, Denmark, Finland, and Sweden have near universal rates of computer and Internet usage among primary care providers, and this has been the norm for many years.¹⁸⁸

Peer pressure from other doctors to adopt health IT has also contributed to the mostly voluntary adoption of health IT in countries like Denmark and Sweden. Research has shown that peer influence was a leading factor influencing health IT adoption in Denmark, Sweden, Norway, and the Netherlands.¹⁸⁹ Early adopters of health IT systems used workshops, conferences and informal gatherings to promote the use of health IT systems among their peers and associate using IT systems with best practices. In addition, Denmark has benefited from its "comparative culture," and MedCom has spurred regional competition by regularly reporting on the progress of the counties and regions in successfully implementing health IT initiatives.¹⁹⁰

Cultural norms have also influenced Sweden's experience with health IT systems. Reflecting its tradition of egalitarianism, Sweden has adopted a consensus-based approach to promoting health IT. Health care in Sweden is provided by county and municipal councils, and these local governments

Deploying EHR systems with robust

technical controls, including encryption,

electronic identification, and audit logs can

improve the privacy and security of personal

medical data.

have worked closely with their regional health care organizations to implement health IT systems that lead to better health care outcomes. Sweden has a tradition of county councils and health care regions working collaboratively to improve health care quality

and efficiency, so this collaboration in implementing health IT follows that tradition. As mentioned above, Finland has similarly used a consensus-based approach to setting standards for health IT.

Privacy Issues Related to Health IT Systems

In implementing health IT systems, nations must grapple with issues related to ensuring the privacy of patients' sensitive health and other personal information. Many countries have adopted data security legislation to protect patients' privacy with the goal of improving users' confidence by assuring patients that their personal medical data are safe. Deploying EHR systems with robust technical controls, including encryption, electronic identification, and audit logs can improve the privacy and security of personal medical data. In Denmark, patients have access to health information through the official Danish Web portal Sundhed.dk and can control many privacy functions through this portal. Access to the portal by patients requires the use of a digital signature. Using the online health portal, patients can monitor who has accessed or modified their personal medical records. Danish patients also have the option of restricting access to their medical record to specific health care workers and limiting access to certain types of sensitive medical information.¹⁹¹

Similarly, Finland's eArchive system for EHRs will require health providers to securely authenticate to the system and receive electronic authorization before accessing a patient's personal health data. Patients will also be able to review access logs about who has accessed their personal medical files, a significant improvement over the paper-

based filing system found in many doctor's offices around the world.¹⁹²

Sweden, too, has overcome the objections of privacy advocates through good policy. The Swedish government maintains various national databases to

track population health information, such as births, cause of death and cancer rates, and health care quality, such as the treatment and outcomes of various medical conditions. Although these databases contain sensitive personally identifiable information. including patient's а unique identification number, only approximately 4 percent to 5 percent of citizens opt out.¹⁹³ In July 2008, Sweden enacted the Patient Data Act, new legislation designed to maintain the privacy and security of patient data while also allowing data exchange between health care providers. The Patient Data Act replaced previous legislation such as the Health Record Act and the Care Registers Act, which did not adequately provide for the free flow of data between health care organizations. The new legislation is intended to allow patient data to follow an individual between different health care providers, organizations and regions.¹⁹⁴

The legislation also includes requirements to empower the patient and ensure privacy. As an example, patients must give consent for who can access their health records. In addition, the act requires patients to be able to access an electronic copy of their medical records and review a log of personnel that have accessed their health data.

In the Netherlands, data are stored not in a central government database but by the health care providers. The National Switch Point (Landelijk SchakelPunt or LSP in Dutch), the information hub for patient data, provides a record of where a patient's medical data are stored. The LSP also provides a record of who has accessed patient medical data since third-party access to patient data must be authorized through an electronic transaction. Patients in the Netherlands can opt out of the electronic exchange of their data, either through their health care provider or electronically with their Dutch Identity Card. To date, however, only about 2 percent of patients have opted out of the system.¹⁹⁵

In the United States, advocacy groups repeatedly cite privacy fears as one of the major impediments to progress with health IT. Moreover, some advocacy groups have resisted legislative efforts on health IT initiatives citing privacy concerns. To the extent that concerns about privacy are likely tied to trust in government, the importance of privacy concerns may vary by country. In comparison to the population in Denmark, which has a high level of trust in the government, the population in the United States views government with considerably less trust.¹⁹⁶ Unless legitimate privacy concerns are properly addressed in the United States, privacy fears can create resistance among consumers to adopting certain helpful health care technology. If privacy laws at the state or federal level are too restrictive, however, they can impede the adoption of health IT and its use in clinical care. At the federal level, for example, the HIPAA Privacy Rule (45 CFR Parts 160 and 164), which provides the federal floor of privacy protection for health information in the United States while allowing more stringent state laws to continue in force, states that health care providers must "protect against any reasonably anticipated threats." This

condition created much initial confusion for providers, who struggled to determine if the use of technology such as e-mail to communicate with a patient violated these terms (it does not).¹⁹⁷ At the state level, a recent study of health IT adoption rates found that states with more restrictive privacy laws were less likely to have high rates of EHR usage.¹⁹⁸ Thus, a balance is needed in the United States that can both reassure patients that their privacy is being protected while not implementing restrictive measures that reduce data sharing and result in lower quality care. Recent efforts to increase data privacy include the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, which extended HIPAA's privacy protection to all organizations that handle protected medical data and included notification requirements in the event of a security breach.

The issue of privacy and data protection is of particular concern for health IT applications involving data sharing such as teleradiology. These issues become even more complicated when data must flow internationally, such as when a radiologist is located in another country. For example, teleradiology can involve sharing personal medical data with health care workers not directly involved in a patient's care. Yet countries often have many reasons to adopt teleradiology, even countries like the United Kingdom, known for strong data protection laws. Teleradiology addresses a number of concerns in the British health care system including a shortage of radiologists, government goals to reduce waiting times for patients, and the relatively higher salary for radiologists in the United Kingdom.¹⁹⁹ To take advantage of applications like teleradiology while still protecting patient privacy, the United Kingdom has put in place rules and regulations to protect patient data while still allowing access to telehealth applications. Thus, for example, health care organizations in the United Kingdom must verify that patients have been informed and given consent to any data sharing. Health care providers must also have proper controls and contracts in place to ensure data confidentiality with foreign partners. To help lessen the administrative burden, the United Kingdom's Data Protection Act allows data sharing within the European Economic

Area.²⁰⁰ For the United States, patients can hold the original source of the data, such as their health care provider, accountable for misuse of their data, so additional protections for foreign data processing are probably unnecessary.

Policies to Support Telehealth

Many nations have enacted policies designed to either encourage or impede the use of telemedicine including funding mechanisms, licensing and regulatory barriers. To support telemedicine, medical insurance reimbursement schedules need to include appropriate funding for telemedicine applications, interstate and international licensing standards should be promoted, and regulatory barriers should be minimized.

Nordic countries such as Finland, Denmark, and Norway have traditionally promoted telehealth applications as a pathway to ensuring equal access

to health care, especially in rural areas during winter. In Finland, both public and private sector providers can receive reimbursement for remote consultations.²⁰¹ Denmark set national reimbursement rates for email consultations at twice the value of telephone

consultations, and in 2008 had over 20,000 e-mail exchanges per month between patients and doctors.²⁰² Norway, too, has been a leader in telemedicine. The northern region of Norway has a small population distributed over a relatively large geographic area and has looked to telehealth applications to accommodate the health care needs of the population. The University Clinic in Tromsø pioneered many teleradiology applications and hosts the Norwegian Centre for Integrated Care and Telemedicine, a recognized world leader in telemedicine.²⁰³ Norway was also an early of telehealth applications promoter bv implementing a telehealth fee schedule in August that made ''all 1996 telehealth services reimbursable by the national health insurer."

The U.S. Congress passed legislation in 1997 that directed Medicare to reimburse health care

Medicare began accepting telemedicine claims in January 1999. However, Medicare's reimbursement provisions contain certain restrictions that prevent more widespread use of telemedicine. The most notable case is for teleradiology where Medicare's rules and regulations require that the radiologist performing the service be physically located in the United States-an obvious barrier to using radiologists located abroad.²⁰⁴ State laws can also restrict telemedicine. For example, a 2002 study found that "no state expressly allows telemedicine practitioners to treat or diagnosis patients across state borders without being licensed in the patient's state." In addition, the study found that 13 states had enacted or were considering legislation specifically limiting telemedicine.²⁰⁵

providers for certain telemedicine applications, and

Licensing standards can also have an impact on the use of certain health IT applications. Maintaining

Denmark set national reimbursement rates for e-mail consultations at twice the value of telephone consultations, and in 2008 had over 20,000 e-mail exchanges per month between patients and doctors. high licensing standards can be an effective means for improving quality of care; however, it can also be misused to advantage certain health care workers. In the United States, licensing standards are set by medical associations and state licensing boards made up of

the doctors that would be affected by less stringent licensing requirements. In effect, the doctors setting the standards are the same doctors that could be hurt by a more open market. As a result, hospitals that want to use international teleradiology face certain barriers. In contrast, in the United Kingdom foreign radiologists can either obtain certifications and training with the United Kingdom or apply to the Postgraduate Medical Education and Training Board (PMETB) to have existing credentials accepted. Foreign doctors from within the EU face little review as efforts have been made to standardize licensing requirements across member countries.²⁰⁶

Other laws and regulations can also provide a barrier to telehealth applications. For example, in Japan, Article 20 of the Medical Act outlawed doctors from diagnosing and treating a patient without a direct meeting, a law that stunted the growth of telehealth applications in Japan. Japan's Ministry of Health, Labor, and Welfare clarified the law in 1997 to allow telemedicine which contributed to the rapid growth in telemedicine applications now seen in Japan today. A similar restriction prevented doctors in South Korea from practicing telemedicine. Previously, doctors could only offer medical advice, but they could not treat patients or order prescriptions remotely. As of July 2009, South Korea's Ministry for Health, Welfare, and Family Affairs revised its regulations to allow doctors to treat patients examined online.²⁰⁷

Common Health IT Infrastructure

An important component of the national health IT strategies in many of the countries leading in health IT adoption is developing shared IT

infrastructure—that is, technology that can be used by multiple health care providers. Building IT infrastructure creates network externalities positive benefits that flow to others outside the network.

Because of these network externalities, the market alone may not invest in IT infrastructure at the optimal level and government involvement may be necessary.

Building common infrastructure helps lower costs and increase interoperability by creating a shared platform for health care organizations to use. Examples of common health IT infrastructure include shared EHR systems, online authentication services, electronic billing systems, secure e-mail, online portals, and health data networks. Providers that invest in health IT systems often receive more value when common infrastructure is available than when they must use a standalone health IT system, a reason that helps explain why the adoption rates for EHR systems among primary care providers in countries like Denmark, Finland, and Sweden are higher than in other countries without this common infrastructure. For example, physicians in Denmark identified a number of functional improvements from implementing health IT systems that depend on common

Building common infrastructure helps lower costs and increase interoperability by creating a shared platform for health care organizations to use.

infrastructure, such as the ability to receive test results electronically and notify doctors when one of their patients is admitted to the emergency room.²⁰⁸ The ability to file billing claims electronically has also spurred investment in EHR systems in countries such as Denmark, Norway, and the Netherlands, as EHR systems often include computerized billing systems that automate billing and reduce administrative costs.²⁰⁹

Denmark has long benefitted from common infrastructure, having developed the National Patient Registry, a longitudinal record of patient contact with hospitals, in 1977.²¹⁰ Denmark's common national health IT infrastructure today includes the national e-health portal Sundhed.dk, which allows Danish citizens and health care professionals to access general and individual

> health information and to communicate with each other. Another component national of the health infrastructure is the Danish Health Data Network managed by MedCom, which enables health care organizations to securely

exchange health data. In 1997, Denmark established an after-hours service so patients could visit a doctor outside of normal office hours. To facilitate this service, the counties in Denmark jointly funded the implementation of a computer system to generate e-prescriptions and send reports to the patient's primary care physician. Doctors were required to use this computer system to receive payment for their services.²¹¹

Finland, too, has worked to develop a common national health IT infrastructure. Although much of the work to integrate IT into health organizations and build regional networks occurs at the local level, local systems use common infrastructure and services defined at the national level. The public key infrastructure used to authenticate health care providers to online services, directory services, and patient ID cards, for example, are all implemented at the national level.²¹²

Finland's most ambitious plan is to implement a €20 million national electronic health IT infrastructure-referred to as KanTa-for its 5 million citizens.²¹³ While Finland currently has high EHR adoption rates, interoperability between these systems continues to be a problem. A major component of KanTa will be a centralized national electronic archive called eArchive, to which health care providers will provide official health records, allowing data to flow seamlessly between health providers.²¹⁴ Data stored in the eArchive will be the official repository of patient records, although health care providers may maintain a local copy. The repository will also give patients access to their personal health information. The planned completion date for e-Archive is 2011.²¹⁵ Another major project of KanTa, also to be operating by 2011, will improve e-prescribing in Finland. As noted earlier. Finland currently trails other countries in the electronic transmission of prescriptions. To remedy this shortcoming, KanTa will include an electronic prescribing center that will allow the secure transmission of prescriptions from health care providers to pharmacies. The system includes smart ID cards for health professionals, a secure messaging system, and a central data repository for all pharmacies. KELA, the Social Insurance Institution of Finland, also plans to build in decision-support features to improve drug safety.²¹⁶ Over the next 10 years, Finland predicts that the e-prescribing system will generate total savings of €10 million.²¹⁷

health care Because Sweden's system is councils decentralized. with county and municipalities responsible for much of the care delivery, national entities work in partnership with local organizations to ensure coordinated efforts are leading towards national goals. Organizations working at the national level have also focused on developing health IT applications that provide important infrastructure needed across the country and support activities at the local level. Examples of common resources built at the national level are the Health Services Address Registry (a national directory of health care providers and their duties and roles), and the Secure IT in Health Services (SITHS) system (security infrastructure that makes it possible to authenticate health care workers to

ensure only authorized individuals get access to patients' private information).

Two ongoing projects in Sweden designed to improve the exchange of health information between various health care organizations are the National Patient Summary project and the Standards for Electronic Interoperability in Health Care and Social Services (also known by its Swedish acronym RIV). The National Patient Summary project is intended to make patient information available to health care providers anvwhere in the country. In Sweden's decentralized health care system, regional health care organizations have adopted different IT systems. This project was initiated by the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare in 2004 to create a centralized system for collecting and distributing summary health care information for patients. The goal is to have the National Patient Summary operational in Sweden by 2010, with all county councils connected to provide all patients access to their medical data regardless of location.²¹⁸ The Standards for Electronic Interoperability in Health Care and Social Services project aims to facilitate electronic data interchange by setting standards for both technical interoperability and semantic interoperability.²¹⁹ The intent is to give health IT developers in Sweden a common framework on which to design their systems to promote interoperability.

Sjunet is another important Swedish health IT project deployed on a national level. Sjunet is an IP-based broadband network separate from the Internet connecting all hospitals, primary care centers, and many other health centers. Begun in 1997 as a regional initiative to connect local health care organizations over a virtual private network, Sjunet has evolved into a national secure broadband network for the exchange of health information.²²⁰ Sjunet has defined standards, rules, and security features. Thus, for example, Sjunet includes access to services such as Domain Name System, directory services and a public-key infrastructure for secure communication between hospitals and personnel. Sjunet has led to the development of other important national and regional health IT applications in areas such as eprescribing, teleradiology, and video conferencing. Today almost all hospitals and primary care providers have access to Sjunet.²²¹ Sjunet is used for multiple clinical and administrative purposes in Sweden, including video-conferencing, teleradiology, secure e-mail, electronic data interchange, and e-learning in medical education. These projects have succeeded in part because of the availability of a common communications infrastructure to build upon. Notably, Sweden was the first country to build a national broadband health network infrastructure.

The national coordinating body for health IT in the Netherlands is the National IT Institute for Healthcare (NICTIZ), a nonprofit organization operating with funding from the Dutch Ministry of Health, Welfare, and Sport to develop national health IT initiatives and standards. The NICTIZ has worked to develop the national health IT infrastructure called AORTA. AORTA includes a national registration system for patients, health care workers, and insurers in the Netherlands. It also includes a system for authenticating individuals and authorizing access to medical records.222 The Netherlands has chosen not to pursue a centralized national EHR system (like Finland and the United Kingdom), but rather to use a decentralized system that uses a record locator service to point to medical data stored in regional databases. A central component of this effort in the Netherlands is the National Switch Point (Landelijk SchakelPunt or LSP in Dutch). the basic infrastructure for national electronic data exchange of medical data between health care providers. Operational as of 2007, the LSP provides the foundation for the development of a nationwide "virtual" EHR for patients. In addition, the LSP is used for e-locum services (after-hours services) for patients to see doctors other than their primary care providers. The government of the Netherlands is funding the development of the LSP through its initial startup phase, and all health care providers in the country can use it at no cost. The NICTIZ has defined a number of requirements providers must satisfy to connect to the LSP, including using certain privacy and security features.²²³

In the United Kingdom, the NHS has invested in national IT projects that are efficient because of their large scale or that work more effectively because all users are using the same application or service. For example, the NHS has developed NHSmail, a secure e-mail, SMS, fax and directory service for NHS staff. The NHS was uniquely positioned to provide a secure platform for transmitting patient data because it could encourage all NHS employees to participate. The NHS wisely did not limit the service to its own staff but also opened the service, at no cost, to NHS partners, such as pharmacists and dentists. In simple economic terms, the value of the network increases as the number of users increases, and in this case, the NHS benefits from creating a more efficient health care system. As of early 2009, NHSmail has over 400,000 registered users.²²⁴

In comparison to these leading nations, the United States has done little to develop common infrastructure. The most notable common infrastructure project funded by the U.S. government is the Veteran's Health Information Systems and Technology Architecture, or VistA, open-source EHR software an package. Developed by the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs over two decades at a cost of several billion dollars for use in VA hospitals, the software is now open-source and freely available for any medical group to implement or further develop. The idea of using the VistA software more widely in the United States has been promoted by Sen. Rockefeller (D-WV) who has introduced S. 890, the "Health Information Technology (IT) Public Utility Act of 2009," to provide grants to safetynet and rural hospitals to fund the implementation of government-supported health IT applications, including VistA and the Resource and Patient Management System (RPMS), of the Indian Health Service. The legislation would also create a federal board tasked with updating the open-source software and introducing new software modules as needed. Critics of this approach point out that even with no licensing fees for software much of the cost of an EHR system is in the implementation, support, and hardware.²²⁵

In addition, the U.S. federal government has the development of CONNECT. funded CONNECT is open-source software that federal government agencies have developed to connect their information systems to other health IT systems participating in the national health information network. It consists of three primary software modules that provide organizations access to core network services, basic enterprise functions, and a client framework for further development of end-user applications. More than 20 federal agencies jointly funded the development of CONNECT and purposely created the software under an open-source license so other agencies could reuse the software without incurring additional licensing costs. In addition, CONNECT was made publicly available in 2009 to help accelerate adoption of health IT systems.²²⁶

Robust Standards to Support Health IT

Robust standards are critical to the effective application of health IT and play an important role in spurring the use of new technology. The Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine (DICOM) standard introduced in the early 1990s,

for example, facilitated the development of Picture Archiving and Communication Systems (PACS) computer systems dedicated to the storage, retrieval, distribution and presentation of medical images.

Standard terminology,

nomenclature, data formats and certification requirements facilitate interoperability between unrelated health IT applications, help ensure patient safety, and help deliver better quality care.²²⁷ While various international standards setting organizations, such as Health Level 7 Organization (HL7), International for Standardization (ISO) the and European Committee for Standardization (CEN), have made extensive progress in developing usable standards, standards must still be approved at the national level.

To facilitate the standard-setting process, many governments actively engage with all stakeholders, including those from the private sector, to coordinate the development of standards. In Denmark, for example, MedCom, the Danish health care organization responsible for setting standards for health IT systems, acts as a coordinating body to bring together health care providers, laboratories, vendors, and others to the table to develop standards. As Finland develops its new centralized EHR system, the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health has created a number of working groups to define various standards including core data elements, interfaces, data security and document metadata. Finland's Ministry of Social Affairs and Health has sought to achieve national consensus on standards through its working groups that include health care professionals, IT vendors, and experts from the hospital districts.²²⁸

Nationwide uniformity between standards and their various versions helps ensure interoperability between different implementations of health IT systems. Some countries must also develop

localization projects to adapt standards to their needs. A key pillar of Sweden's ehealth strategy, for example, is to create a common information structure. Sweden has initiated 2 number of projects to create а national information structure for developing

future health IT applications. In addition, the country has made efforts to standardize clinical documentation, especially for EHRs. Sweden expects to complete a national interdisciplinary terminology for health care concepts and terms using the Systematized Nomenclature of Medicine (SNOMED). The goal is to create an unambiguous set of terms translated into Swedish by 2011.

In Finland, regional authorities have significant independence in delivering health care, and many regions have adopted different EHR systems. As a

To facilitate the standard-setting process, many governments actively engage with all stakeholders, including those from the private sector, to coordinate the development of standards. result, interoperability has been a challenge. In the absence of an interoperable national EHR system, Finland has had success in developing a widely used "reference directory" that contains patient record location information.²²⁹ In addition, in 2003, Finland's Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, the government organization responsible for setting the nationwide e-health strategy "defined the common semantic and technical structure that should be utilized in every [EHR] system in all organizations."²³⁰ Included in the strategy were national guidelines to ensure security, privacy, and interoperability, such as the use of a public-key infrastructure, informed consent, and open standards.

Early efforts in Denmark to exchange data used EDIFACT as the primary standard for electronic communication. Since then Denmark has initiated the use of XML standards for data exchange. MedCom simplified data exchange by replacing the hundreds of different paper-based letters used for various processes, such as discharge letters and referral letters, and replaced these with a single, electronic letter. By standardizing these forms for health IT vendors, MedCom has facilitated interoperability between various local hospital systems that can now exchange data.²³¹ The Danish government has also focused on translating and distributing the SNOMED CT nomenclature. The government spent €2.7 million to translate SNOMED CT and will in the future make it available to health IT vendors to implement in systems.²³²

In the United States, the 2009 stimulus bill-the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act- gives authority to the Office for the National Coordinator of Health Information Technology (ONC) within the Office of the Secretary of Health and Human Services to coordinate the development and adoption of health IT standards. the ONC is responsible for Specifically, establishing a health IT standards committee and evaluating and developing "standards. implementation specifications, and certification criteria" to achieve nationwide adoption of health IT technology and gives the federal government more control over the standard-setting process.²³³

While formalized in the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act, the national coordinator for health IT has been responsible for developing data and communication standards and certification requirements since 2004. However, progress on standards harmonization has been slow, in part because of a resistance by the former administration to have strong federal involvement in standards development.²³⁴ Under the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, the ONC is also responsible for working with the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) to recognize one or more organizations in the United States that will create voluntary certification programs to evaluate if a health IT systems qualifies for stimulus funds. As of August 2009, the Certification Commission for Health IT (CCHIT) was the only authorized health IT certification organization in the United States.

Health care claims and billing systems rely on a system of codes for electronic transactions that correspond to various conditions and procedures. The United States currently relies on a coding system developed about 30 years ago known as ICD-9. Most other developed countries (including Denmark, Finland, Sweden, Australia, and the United Kingdom) have already moved to a newer system called ICD-10. ICD-10 has 155,000 codes to define various ailments and procedures-10 times as many codes as ICD-9 has. Moving to ICD-10 in the United States would also allow more accurate billing for specific procedures and introduce new administrative efficiencies. Even more importantly, however, the improved and expanded codes for medical services and diagnoses in ICD-10 are needed to develop good EHR systems. The additional codes in ICD-10 provide additional and more detailed information that can be entered into patients' EHRs and could also be useful in clinical research and disease monitoring. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services in the United States has estimated that the cost of moving to ICD-10 in the United States will total \$1.64 billion over 15 years and entail more billing errors in the short term. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) issued a rule that would have required health care providers in the United States to adopt ICD-10 by October

2011 for all electronic transactions; after numerous objections were raised, HHS extended the deadline to October 2013.²³⁵

Use of Unique Patient Identifiers

A core function of any national health information system in which patients' medical data are spread across multiple health record databases is to identify and link patients' medical records. A record locator service must be used to ensure patient records are correctly matched from each database. Two principal methods exist for identifying and linking patient records from different databases. The first is unique patient identifiers. The second is statistical or probabilistic matching. Unique patient identifiers help facilitate data sharing between different health care organizations, and many health information systems around the world rely on the use of unique patient identifiers to locate records. Much like a passport number or a driver's license number helps distinguish between two individuals with similar names, a unique patient identifier is a unique key used to index every patient's record. This unique identifier can be used to quickly and easily pull data for a patient from multiple databases to create a complete patient record from a distributed set of data. In Denmark, for example, a unique national identification number is issued to each citizen. This number is routinely used for multiple purposes, including health care, banking, taxes, and pensions, and Danish citizens embraced its use because of the convenience.²³⁶ In Finland, too, a single national identifier is used across various sectors.²³⁷

Statistical or probabilistic matching-the alternative to using unique patient identifiers to link patients' medical records maintained in multiple databases-uses various algorithms to find matches between patients' records in different databases using data such as name, date of birth, and mailing address. Such matching is not perfect. If there are two John Q. Smiths living in the same region, for example, a computer system may have a difficult time matching records; similarly it may have trouble verifying that the records for John Smith and John Q. Smith belong to the same person. The problem can also be even more

complicated when two individuals live at the same address, for example, a father and son that share a name. As one study found, the problem with statistical matching is that the personal attributes it uses "are usually not unique to the individual, change over time, and are often entered into different systems in different formats."²³⁸ The problems with statistical matching are magnified as the size of a health information network increases.

Benefits from unique patient identifiers include reduced risk of medical error, improved efficiency, and better privacy protections for patients. Many of the benefits occur because of the increased accuracy of matching records using a unique patient identifier. As a result, using patient identifiers can help decrease the likelihood of false positives and false negatives. More accurate and complete medical records help enable better medical research, increase patient safety, and improve quality of care. Using unique patient identifiers also ensures more timely medical data and imposes less of an administrative burden on providers-with health care probabilistic matching, a health care provider must sometimes review a record when a possible, but ambiguous, match is found. Such uncertainty can also introduce delays in receiving complete patient information. In addition, using a unique patient identifier actually helps increase patient privacy as no private information needs to be disclosed to match records. Moreover, statistical matching may inaccurately attribute a record to the wrong person, thus compromising an individual's private medical records. Using a unique patient identifier increases the accuracy of patient record matching and thus helps prevent privacy breaches. Improved matching through the use of unique patient identifiers also facilitates medical research and epidemiological studies as longitudinal data can be more easily compiled.

As shown in Table 8, the use of unique patient identifiers is common in many of the global leaders in health IT, including Denmark, Finland and Sweden.²³⁹ Unique patient identifiers are also used in much of the European Union, Australia, and New Zealand.²⁴⁰ The implementation of unique patient identifiers in different countries

varies. Decisions have to be made about whether to make such identifiers permanent and lifelong, whether the identifier is considered private or public information, and whether the identifier will, by itself, reveal any demographic information. In addition, techniques can be used to use identifiers with check digits, such as what are used in bank routing numbers, which help prevent data-entry errors. The Netherlands, for example, uses the Citizen Service Number (BSN), a unique identifier much like the social security number in the United States, to identify patients. The Dutch government mandated the use of the BSN in 2006 as a necessary step towards achieving nationwide interoperability of health information. The Ministry of Health also runs the Unique Healthcare Practitioner Identification (UZI) system to provide identification and authentication of health care providers. Providers use an UZI smart card to sign electronic transactions such as prescriptions or letters of referrals. These electronically signed transactions have the same legal status as documents with paper signatures. The Netherlands has a separate registry for health care insurers. Insurers receive a Unique Health Insurer Identification and a digital certificate to use to securely exchange data online. In the United Kingdom, Dr. Peter Drury, head of information policy in the department of health stated: "We came to a conclusion in 2002. I don't think you can do it [create an EHR] without a national identifier."241 The NHS in the United Kingdom is working to fully implement a national identifier solution as many hospital information systems still rely on a local numbering system. As a result of this slow progress, over 1,300 incidents involving patients' identifying numbers were reported to the National Patient Safety Agency between June 2006 and August 2008.242

In Canada, Health Infoway does not have a national unique identifier for each patient; instead, each province manages patient identifiers for its own region. In effect, though, this has created a federated system of unique patient identifiers for Canada.

Table 8: Use of Unique Patient Identifiers inSeven Developed Countries

Country	Uses a National Patient ID?
Australia	Yes
Canada	Partial (Provincial) *
Denmark	Yes
Finland	Yes
Netherlands	Yes
New Zealand	Yes**
Sweden	Yes
United Kingdom	Yes
United States	No

* Provinces in Canada assign patient IDs.

** Every health system user in New Zealand, including tourists, receives an ID.²⁴³

The United States has not adopted a system of unique patient identifiers. The decision not to adopt a system of unique patient identifiers has been supported strongly by many groups, including the Markle Foundation's Connecting for Health program, a public-private partnership engaged with developing policy and technical recommendations to promote the development of health IT in the United States. Groups such as Connecting for Health have called for a decentralized and distributed health IT architecture in the United States with no unique patient identifiers in an effort to preserve patient privacy and promote data security.244 However, a decentralized health IT architecture does nothing to further these goals because privacy and security can be integrated in many different types of system designs. Originally, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) included plans to develop a system of unique patient identifiers; however, privacy and security fears derailed the process, and federal efforts to link regional health information organizations using a national unique patient identifier have been halted.²⁴⁵ Instead, the effort to develop a national health information network in the United States is relying on the use of a system of interconnected patient indexes that rely on statistical matching. Researchers have noted that the lack of a unique patient identifier in the United States is a hindrance to using data from EHRs for research.246

Part III: Conclusion

ur analysis in this report indicates that several developed countries-including Denmark, Finland, and Sweden-are clearly ahead of the United States in moving forward with their health IT systems. Some of the factors that influence health IT, including the type of health care system, are entrenched in the nation and not likely to change. Yet other factors, including organizational challenges, technical hurdles, and societal issues, are more amenable to change by national policy. Our analysis also demonstrates that national government policies can play an important role in shaping and facilitating a country's health IT adoption and use. Although there is no one-size-fits-all set of rules for achieving widespread health IT adoption, government policymakers can learn many lessons from global health IT leaders about how to spur progress in modernizing their health care systems.

Achieving widespread health IT adoption requires bringing together multiple actors in the health care sector with competing interests to work towards a common goal. As discussed in this report, strong national leadership is needed to coordinate the actions of these various health care stakeholders. A key theme across every nation leading in health IT adoption is national-level leadership, either from a government agency or a public-private partnership, responsible for setting goals, measuring progress and overcoming barriers to adoption. Another common policy tool found in many of the countries leading in health IT adoption is the use of incentives and mandates. Many health care organizations are resistant to change, for various reasons including market failures, and so policymakers must use both carrots and sticks to spur technology adoption. Incentives should ideally be tied to performance requirements that reward health care providers for using an IT system that generate proven health care benefits or savings. Mandates should be used to achieve ubiquitous adoption and ensure health IT system upgrades stay on schedule.

Policymakers need to address various technical challenges posed by health IT. For example,

interoperability continues to be a significant impediment to more widespread health IT adoption in many countries. Developing common infrastructure can help overcome some of these interoperability challenges as health care organizations would be using the same systems. In addition, developing common infrastructure, such as electronic billing or e-prescribing systems, gives health care providers more of an incentive to invest in their own IT systems. While health IT systems confer some benefits on health care providers irrespective of the level of adoption among other health care organization, because of positive network externalities, the benefits are greater with more widespread adoption. Policymakers overcome help can also interoperability challenges by bringing together various stakeholders to set standards for electronic data exchange, such as data standards and the use of a unique identifier.

Policymakers may not be able to change all of the societal and cultural issues affecting adoption rates of health IT, but they can respond to them. For example, with regards to privacy, policymakers should establish clear functional requirements to protect patient data and the appropriate legal safeguards to prevent the misuse of private patient information in the event of disclosure but allows for appropriate data sharing. Policymakers should also be cognizant of the need to ensure policy stays current with technology and that regulatory barriers preventing the use of health IT applications, such as telemedicine in Japan and South Korea, are remedied promptly. In addition, policymakers must ensure that national standards setting organizations work cooperatively with all stakeholders to promote health IT adoption and best practices. Finally, policymakers should remember that a nation's e-health strategy should be part of a larger agenda to create a fully connected information society since many aspects of health IT require, or are enhanced, by conditions such as fast and affordable broadband Internet, a digitally literate population and other technical achievements such as robust electronic identification and authentication systems.

Part IV: Recommendations for U.S. Policymakers

ealth care is increasingly an informationrich field. Every health care encounter Lcreates hundreds of new data points, from blood pressure readings to lab results to drug prescriptions. Every day, millions of new bits of health data are created in hospitals, laboratories, and clinics around the world. To succeed in this environment every person involved in health care, from patients to doctors to insurers, must be equipped with the tools and information needed to make effective decisions. While IT systems have been used in medical settings since their inception, the latest advancements in IT such as low-cost mobile personal computers, wireless connectivity, and broadband Internet access have created an entirely new platform for providing health care applications. IT offers many opportunities for managing this wealth of information to improve quality of care, reduce health care costs, increase access to health information, and increase convenience. In addition, all of this raw data offers medical researchers many opportunities to develop new knowledge through technologies like rapid learning health networks.²⁴⁷

Learning from past successes and failures is a critical component of evidence-based medicinethe practice of using the best available evidence on the risks and benefits of possible treatments to make decisions about health care. Medical researchers constantly look back at past performance to determine the efficacy of current treatment strategies and find potential new treatments on the horizon. Policymakers must similarly turn to rigorous analysis when shaping the health care policies and priorities within their jurisdiction. Given the importance of health care to quality of life and the billions of dollars invested in health care each year, it is not enough to simply find a strategy that works-policymakers must constantly strive to build the best health care system possible. Mistakes will be made, and policies must be reviewed and revised as lessons are learned and new best practices emerge. However, to make these improvements, national health care leaders must learn from the past

performance of not only their own health care system but also that of their neighbors.

The United States has many opportunities to improve its use of health IT by learning from the global leaders in the field. Some of these lessons mentioned in this report have already been implemented in the health IT provisions of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009. The next important step is for the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) to define "meaningful use" for qualified health IT systems. HHS must ensure that meaningful use not only includes important performance requirements interoperability but also and reasonable privacy standards. Further actions for policymakers to spur use and maximize benefits of health IT include the following:

• **Provide strong national-level leadership on health IT.** Every nation leading in health IT has a comprehensive national strategy for ehealth, with clear metrics and goal posts to measure progress. Strong national leadership is needed for the United States to break through existing barriers on health IT adoption and make progress towards a future of interconnected health data systems.

Much of this leadership should come from the Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology (ONC) within the Office of the Secretary of Health and Human Services, which was directed by the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 to revise the Federal Health IT Strategic Plan published in 2008 and to continue to track its progress.²⁴⁸ In addition, the current administration must ensure that the ONC receives the support and resources needed to carry out its mission.

• Provide sufficient funding for health IT adoption. The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 has provided a needed boost in funding for deploying EHR systems in the United States. As some have noted, the funds available for EHR systems may be insufficient to spur the needed change by some providers. In addition, the total cost of implementing health IT exceeds the level funding in the stimulus package: RAND predicts that implementation of EHRs by all medical practices would cost approximately \$8 billion per year over 15 years.²⁴⁹

If necessary, Congress should consider providing additional financial incentives, including entitlement spending and direct grants, or the use of mandates and penalties, to spur adoption of qualified EHR systems. Congress should also continue to fund pilot programs and demonstration projects for innovative, new applications of health IT, including telemedicine, health record data banks and "smart" hospitals. For example, Congress could fund the deployment and

Health record data banks would help

create the necessary market incentives to

spur adoption of EHR systems and provide

patients with a single portal through which

they could get access to and manage their

medical records.

evaluation of nextgeneration hospital IT applications, including robotics, wireless mobile technology, and RFID, in select hospitals within the Veterans Health Administration.

• Build and share tools for health IT. Although

the United States has pursued a decentralized approach to building a nationwide system of interoperable EHRs, as other nations have demonstrated, policymakers should support efforts to build common infrastructure to spur more widespread adoption of health IT systems. In particular, the United States would likely benefit from the development of common infrastructure for routine tasks, such as electronic authentication for patients, which should be performed by every health care information system.

Although additional development of the national health information network may occur through continued development of CONNECT by federal agencies, shared tools that help spur health IT adoption do not have

to be developed by the public sector. The SureScripts e-prescribing network, for example, has a large enough market share that it effectively acts as a common infrastructure for electronic prescribing services in the United States. Similarly, in New Zealand, the privately-owned company HealthLink provides electronic messaging services to most of the health care sector, and the government uses its services to communicate with health care providers.²⁵⁰ In cases where de facto national tools have been developed by the private sector, the federal government can support these tools by actively using them.

• Encourage the creation of health record data banks. Many countries appear to be moving towards a centralized repository for health information. Given the resistance to a

government-run solution in the United States, health record data banks run by the private sector may offer a compelling alternative. Health record data banks would help create the necessary market incentives to spur adoption of EHR systems and provide patients with a single portal through which they could get access

to and manage their medical records. They would also allow patients to maintain control over their medical records.

Congress should pass legislation supporting the creation of health record data banks.²⁵¹ In the 110th Congress, Rep. Moore (D-KS) and Rep. Ryan (R-WI) introduced H.R. 2991, the Independent Health Record Trust Act, which would establish federally regulated health record data banks. This legislation establishes a fiduciary duty for each health record data bank to act for the benefit of its participants and prescribes penalties for a breach of these responsibilities. In addition, the legislation prohibits data bank operators from charging fees to health care providers for accessing or updating an EHR to which they have been given access. This proposal has been included in other recent health care reform legislation including H.R. 2520, sponsored by Rep. Ryan Paul (R-WI), S. 1099, sponsored by Sen. Tom Coburn (R-OK), and S. 1240, sponsored by Sen. Jim DeMint (R-SC).

• Encourage personal health records with data sharing. A personal health record is a health record that is initiated and maintained by an individual. Individuals need access to their EHRs, maintained by health care providers, to use personal health record systems such as Microsoft HealthVault and Google Health, which help empower patients to make better health care decisions.

The Insurance Health Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) established the right for individuals in the United States to obtain a paper copy of their health care records from their doctors, but under the current law, health care providers can charge fees associated with the cost of copying and mailing paper health care records. The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 established the right of patients to obtain an electronic copy of their medical records from health care providers that maintain an EHR, but again, health care providers can charge a fee to receive this information.

To encourage the use of personal health records, Congress should update this legislation to require doctors to provide patients with a no-cost electronic copy of their health information upon request.²⁵² In addition, the ONC should include the ability to export data to personal health record managers as part of the definition of "meaningful use" used to determine which EHR systems qualify for stimulus funding.

• Address legitimate privacy concerns. Privacy advocates have raised many objections to health IT initiatives that have slowed progress with this technology in the United States. U.S. policymakers need to recognize that some privacy objections have more to do with general issues concerning medical privacy than with specific technology. Preventing discrimination by employers or insurers who learn of an individual's preexisting medical condition, for example, is a policy issue that must be addressed regardless of whether the source of information about the individual's condition was in paper or digital form.

Taking a lesson from some of the global leaders in health IT, U.S. policymakers should encourage the use of technical controls to ensure privacy such as the use of electronic identification, authentication and audit trails in health IT systems. In addition, a national discussion is needed so that policymakers and the public fully understand the costs that certain privacy measures impose on society and the benefits that come from a more liberal data-sharing environment, such as better use of decision support systems and improved medical research.

- Eliminate barriers to health IT adoption. Policymakers in the United States must work to identify and overcome existing barriers to the adoption and use of health IT-including legislative, regulatory, and societal obstacles. Thus, for example, policy leaders must continue to work with the Drug Enforcement Administration to pass regulations to allow physicians to prescribe controlled substances electronically.²⁵³ In addition, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services should be directed to ensure that it develops fair reimbursement regulations for telemedicine. Finally, national leaders should ensure that an adequate workforce exists to implement health IT investments and provide workforce training if needed.
- Leverage federal resources to support health IT initiatives. The federal government is the single largest health care payer in the United States, spending more than \$600 billion annually on 80 million Americans through programs such as Medicare, Medicaid, and the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP).²⁵⁴ Congress should use the federal

government's substantial buying power to support health IT initiatives.

To help spur the adoption and use of health IT, Congress should cover the monthly access fees to participate in a health record data bank for all Medicare, Medicaid, and CHIP enrollees. In addition, Congress should require that health plan insurers for federal employees include access to health record data banks as part of their covered services. Because supporting broader use of health IT will lead to cost savings for health care payers, in this case the federal government, this strategy will help ensure a positive return on investment for federal health care dollars.

Encourage "in silico" health research. Ultimately health IT has the potential to dramatically improve the quality of medical research as more and more medical data is digitized. To benefit from the full potential of health informatics, the United States should develop the capability to share medical data for authorized research in a timely and efficient manner.²⁵⁵ This includes developing a comprehensive legal framework to address challenges to sharing research data, such as the appropriate use of de-identified medical data. Policymakers should also consider functional requirements for EHR systems to allow the secondary use of medical data for research. As an example, HHS should consider the importance of secondary use of medical data as it develops interoperability requirements and other standards in its evolving definition of "meaningful use" that will determine how funds are spent from the 2009 stimulus

package.

To gain access to important patient data, many current or proposed projects subject health care providers to an additional layer of reporting requirements rather than building a comprehensive solution for medical data research. Instead, the goal should be to develop a national data-sharing infrastructure to support health informatics research, including the development of rapid-learning health networks, rather than to just create isolated, project-specific research databases.²⁵⁶

Collaborate and partner with all stakeholders. Stronger federal leadership in health IT in the United States should not come at the expense of a collaborative relationship with other health care stakeholders. The federal government should work to bring together health care providers, insurers, and the health IT industry to spur meaningful use of e-health applications. The U.S. government must partner with the private sector to continue to develop standards and certification criteria for health IT systems. Health care providers must be involved throughout the planning and implementation stages to ensure widespread acceptance from physicians and health care workers. As other countries have seen, positive peer pressure has been identified as an important factor that influences the adoption of health IT systems.²⁵⁷ In addition, the United States should seek out more international partnerships to engage in the development of global standards for health IT and to continue to learn from the insights and experiences of the global leaders in health IT.

Endnotes

- ¹ "Migrating Toward Meaningful Use: The State of Health Information Exchange," *eHealth Initiative*, Washington, DC (2009) www.ehealthinitiative.org/assets/Documents/2009SurveyReportFINAL.pdf>.
- ² See, for example, American Hospital Association, Continued Progress: Hospitals Use of Information Technology—2007 (Chicago, IL: February 2007) 15 <www.aha.org/aha/content/2007/pdf/070227-continuedprogress.pdf> and William Hersh, "Health Care Information Technology: Progress and Barriers," Journal of the American Medical Association 292 (2004): 2273-2274.
- ³ Denis Protti and Gunnar Nilsson, "Swedish GPs use Electronic Patient Records," Canadian Medical Association (July 11, 2006) <www.cma.ca/multimedia/CMA/Content_Images/Inside_cma/HIT/10country/Sweden.pdf> and Denis Protti, "Comparison of Information Technology in General Practice in 10 Countries," *Healthcare Quarterly* Vol. 5, No. 4 (2007): 110.
- ⁴ Robert H. Miller et al., "The Value of Electronic Health Records in Solo or Small Group Practices," *Health Affairs* 24 (2005): 1127–37.
- ⁵ Denis Protti and Ib Johansen, "Further lessons from Denmark" *Electronic Healthcare* vol. 2 no. 2 (2003): 38.
- ⁶ Catherine Quantin et al., "Unique Patient Concept: A key choice for European epidemiology" International Journal of Medical Informatics 76 (2007): 419-426.
- ⁷ See similar proposal by David B. Kendall, "Building a Health Information Network" (Washington, DC: Progressive Policy Institute, May 2007)
- ⁸ Daniel Castro, "Meeting National and International Goals for Improving Health Care: The Role of Information Technology in Medical Research," *Atlanta Conference on Science and Innovation Policy* (October 2009).
- ⁹ Lynn Etheredge, "A Rapid-Learning Health System" Health Affairs 26, no. 2 (2007): w107-w118.
- ¹⁰ Robert Atkinson and Daniel Castro, Digital Quality of Life: Understanding the Personal and Social Benefits of the Information Technology Revolution (Washington, D.C.: Information Technology and Information Foundation, October 1, 2008) <www.itif.org/index.php?id=179>.
- ¹¹ Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society, "Electronic Health Record," Chicago, 2009. <www.himss.org/ASP/topics_ehr.asp> (accessed September 7, 2009).
- ¹² Jennifer Fisher Wilson, "Lessons for Health Care Could be Found Abroad," Annals of Internal Medicine 146 no. 6 (2007): 473-476.
- ¹³ The Computer-Based Patient Record: An Essential Technology for Health Care, Committee on Improving the Patient Record, Division of Health Care Services, Institute of Medicine, Richard S. Dick and Elaine B. Steen; eds. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press (1991).
- ¹⁴ Catherine M. DesRoches et al., "Electronic Health Records in Ambulatory Care -- A National Survey of Physicians," N Engl J Med 359, no. 1 (July 3, 2008): 50-60.
- ¹⁵ The results of the 2006 Harris Interactive/Commonwealth Fund were published online in November 2006, summarized in an article published in early 2007, and summarized in another document prepared by Harris Interactive. See Cathy Schoen et al., "On the Front Lines of Care: Primary Care Doctors' Office Systems, Experiences, and Views in Seven Countries," *Health Affairs* 25(6):w555-571, November 2006 <content.healthaffairs.org/cgi/content/abstract/25/6/w555> (accessed September 6, 2009); Harris Interactive, "Large Differences Between Primary Care Practices in the United States, Australia, Canada, Germany, New Zealand, the Netherlands, and the United Kingdom," *Healthcare News*, vol. 7, issue 2, February 8, 2007. <www.harrisinteractive.com/news/allnewsbydate.asp?NewsID=1175> (accessed September 6, 2009); and Harris Interactive, Unpublished data from the "2006 International Survey of Primary Care Doctors," Rochester, NY. <www.commonwealthfund.org/usr_doc/topline_results_2006_IHPsurvey2.pdf> (accessed September 6, 2009).
- ¹⁶ Denmark: Christian Nøhr et al., "Development, implementation, and diffusion of EHR systems in Denmark" *International Journal of Medical Informatics* 74 (2005): 229-234; Finland: Päivi Hämäläinen, Jarmo Reponen and Ilkka Winblad, "eHealth of Finland" *FinnTelemedicum and National Institute for Health and Welfare* (2009): 26; Japan: Hideo Yasunaga et al., "Computerizing medical record in Japan" *International Journal of Medical Informatics* 77 (2008): 708-713; Sweden: "Swedish Strategy for eHealth Status Report 2009," *Ministry of Health and Social Affairs* (2009): 13 www.regeringen.se/content/1/c6/12/48/02/a97569e9.pdf>.
- ¹⁷ David Blumenthal and John P. Glaser, "Information Technology Comes to Medicine" *The New England Journal of Medicine* (2007).

- ¹⁸ Päivi Hämäläinen, Jarmo Reponen and Ilkka Winblad, "eHealth of Finland," op. cit. p. 21.
- ¹⁹ "Swedish Strategy for eHealth Status Report 2009," op. cit..
- ²⁰ Denis Protti, "A Comparison of How Canada, England and Denmark are Managing their Electronic Health Record Journeys" (2008).
- ²¹ Päivi Hämäläinen, Jarmo Reponen and Ilkka Winblad, "eHealth of Finland," op. cit. p. 21.
- ²² Ashish K Jha et al., "The use of health information technology in seven nations," *International Journal of Medical Informatics* 77, no. 12 (December 2008): 848-854.
- ²³ Hideo Yasunaga et al., "Computerizing medical record in Japan," op. cit.
- ²⁴ Ashish K. Jha et al., "Use of Electronic Health Records in U.S. Hospitals," op. cit.New England Journal of Medicine (March 25, 2009).

- ²⁶ Institute of Medicine, Committee on Quality of Health Care in America, To Err Is Human: Building a Safer Health System, Linda T. Kohn, Janet M. Corrigan, and Molla S. Donaldson, eds. (Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 1999).
- ²⁷ Lucian L. Leape and Donald M. Berwick, "Five Years After To Err Is Human: What Have We Learned? Journal of the American Medical Association 293 (2005): 2384-2390.
- ²⁸ The Leapfrog Group, "Computerized Physician Order Entry," c/o AcademyHealth, Washington, DC, March 3, 2009.www.leapfroggroup.org/media/file/FactSheet_CPOE.pdf> (accessed September 6, 2009).
- ²⁹ David M Cutler, Naomi E Feldman and Jill R Horwitz. "U.S. Adoption Of Computerized Physician Order Entry Systems" *Health Affairs* vol. 24 no. 6 (2005): 1654-1663.
- ³⁰ J.D. Birkmeyer, C.M. Birkmeyer, D.E. Wennberg, M.P. Young, "Leapfrog safety standards: potential benefits of universal adoption," (The Leapfrog Group, Washington, DC: 2000) <www.leapfroggroup.org/media/file/Leapfrog-Launch-Full_Report.pdf>.
- ³¹ "Statistics," Medcom, n.d. <www.medcom.dk/default.asp?id=110197&imgid=341&fullsize=orig> (accessed May 1, 2009).
- 32 Päivi Hämäläinen, Jarmo Reponen and Ilkka Winblad, "eHealth of Finland," op. cit.
- ³³ Denis Protti and Gunnar Nilsson, "Swedish GPs use Electronic Patient Records," op. cit.
- ³⁴ Cathy Schoen et al., "On the Front Lines of Care: Primary Care Doctors' Office Systems, Experiences, and Views in Seven Countries," op. cit.
- 35 Ibid.

- ³⁷ Michiel Sprenger and Hans B. Haveman, Personal communication to author. August 20, 2009.
- ³⁸ Rae Woong Park et al., "Computerized Physician Order Entry and Electronic Medical Record Systems in Korean Teaching and General Hospitals: Results of a 2004 Survey," J Am Med Inform Assoc 12, no. 6 (November 1, 2005): 642-647.
- ³⁹ Ashish K. Jha et al., "The use of health information technology in seven nations," op. cit.
- ⁴⁰ Jos Aarts and Ross Koppel, "Implementation of Computerized Physician Order Entry in Seven Countries," *Health Affairs* Vol. 28, No. 2 (2009): 407.
- ⁴¹ Joan S Ash, Paul N Gorman, Veena Seshadri, and William R Hersh "Computerized physician order entry in U.S. hospitals: Results of a 2002 survey" (2002).
- ⁴² Ashish K. Jha et al., "Use of Electronic Health Records in U.S. Hospitals" op. cit.
- ⁴³ Jos Aarts and Ross Koppel, "Implementation of Computerized Physician Order Entry in Seven Countries," op. cit.
- ⁴⁴ David M Cutler, Naomi E Feldman, Jill R Horwitz. "U.S. Adoption Of Computerized Physician Order Entry Systems," op. cit.

⁴⁵ Ibid.

- ⁴⁶ "Statistics." Medcom. (March 2009) <www.medcom.dk/default.asp?id=110197&imgid=340&fullsize=orig>.
- ⁴⁷ Christian Nohr et al., "Development, implementation and diffusion of EHR systems in Denmark," op. cit.
- ⁴⁸ Päivi Hämäläinen, Jarmo Reponen and Ilkka Winblad, "eHealth of Finland," op. cit. p. 31.

²⁵ Ibid.

³⁶ Ibid.

- ⁴⁹ Denis Protti and Gunnar Nilsson, "Swedish GPs use Electronic Patient Records," op. cit.
- ⁵⁰ "Getting Connected: The Outlook for E-Prescribing in California," California Healthcare Foundation (November 2008) <www.chcf.org/documents/chronicdisease/E-PrescribingOutlookCalifornia.pdf>.
- ⁵¹ Michael A Fischer et al., "Effect of electronic prescribing with formulary decision support on medication use and cost," *Archives of Internal Medicine* 168, no. 22 (December 8, 2008): 2433-2439.
- ⁵² (Denmark) "Statistics," MedCom, n.d. <www.medcom.dk/default.asp?id=110165&imgid=355&fullsize=orig> (accessed September 15, 2009). (Finland) Päivi Hämäläinen, Jarmo Reponen and Ilkka Winblad, "eHealth of Finland," op. cit. p. 41. (Sweden) Another estimate put Sweden's e-prescribing capability at close to 100 percent. See Denis Protti and Gunnar Nilsson, "Swedish GPs use Electronic Patient Records," op. cit.
- ⁵³ Harris Interactive, "Large Differences Between Primary Care Practices in the United States, Australia, Canada, Germany, New Zealand, the Netherlands, and the United Kingdom," *Healthcare News*, vol. 7, issue 2, February 8, 2007. <www.harrisinteractive.com/news/allnewsbydate.asp?NewsID=1175> (accessed September 6, 2009)

54 Ibid.

- ⁵⁵ Ashish K. Jha et al., "The use of health information technology in seven nations," op. cit.
- ⁵⁶ "Latest deployment statistics and information: NHS Connecting for Health deployment statistics (for w/c 30 March 2009)" <www.connectingforhealth.nhs.uk/newsroom/statistics/deployment>.
- ⁵⁷ Denis Protti and Ib Johansen, "Further lessons from Denmark," op. cit. and "Statistics," MedCom, n.d. <www.medcom.dk/default.asp?id=110165&imgid=355&fullsize=orig> (accessed September 15, 2009).
- ⁵⁸ "E-health is a key facilitator for reform," *Public Health Review* (October 2008) <www.publicservice.co.uk/feature_story.asp?id=10402>.
- ⁵⁹ Päivi Hämäläinen, Jarmo Reponen and Ilkka Winblad, "eHealth of Finland," op. cit. p. 41.
- ⁶⁰ "Electronic Prescribing: Becoming Mainstream Practice" *eHealth Initiative and the Center for Improving Medication Management* (June 2008).
- ⁶¹ Institute of Medicine, "Preventing Medication Errors," report brief, July 2006, National Academies Press, Washington, DC <www.iom.edu/Object.File/Master/35/943/medication%20errors%20new.pdf> (accessed September 11, 2009).
- ⁶² Mary V. Wideman, Michael E. Whittler, and Timothy M. Anderson, "Barcode Medication Administration: Lessons Learned from an Intensive Care Unit Implementation," in Advances in Patient Safety: From Research to Implementation. Volume 3, AHRQ Publication Nos. 050021 (1-4). February 2005. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, MD. <www.ahrq.gov/downloads/pub/advances/vol3/Wideman.pdf>.
- ⁶³ Garret Condon, "Drug-dispensing 'robot' dishes out the doses" *LA Times* (December 29, 2003). https://www.articles.latimes.com/2003/dec/29/health/he-robotpharm29
- ⁶⁴ "Medication Errors Occurring with the Use of Barcode Administration Technology," PA Patient Safety Authority, Vol. 5, No. 4 (December 2008):122-6.
 - <www.patientsafetyauthority.org/ADVISORIES/AdvisoryLibrary/2008/Dec5(4)/Pages/122.aspx>
- ⁶⁵ Michael F. Furukawa, T.S. Raghu, Trent J. Spaulding and Ajay Vinze, "Adoption of Health Information Technology for Medication Safety in U.S. Hospitals, 2006" Health Affairs; May/Jun 2008; 27, 3; ABI/INFORM Global pg. 865
- ⁶⁶ This is referred to as the five rights of medication administration: right patient, right medication, right dose, right time and right route. Sometimes a sixth is added: right documentation.
- ⁶⁷ "More time for patient care, an even safer drug management process," *Canadian Health Reference Guide* (March 26, 2009) <www.chrgonline.com/news_detail.asp?ID=107930>.
- ⁶⁸ "The Empowerment of the European Patient 2009–options and implications," Health Consumer Powerhouse (2009) <www.healthpowerhouse.com/files/EPEI-2009/european-patient-empowerment-2009-report.pdf>.
- ⁶⁹ "The Danish National eHealth Portal," The Computerworld Honors Program (2007) <www.cwhonors.org/viewCaseStudy.asp?NominationID=299>.

70 Ibid.

- ⁷¹ Denise Silber, The case for eHealth (IOS Press, 2004), <iospress.metapress.com/content/ymlmk2nr23u616cb/fulltext.pdf>
- ⁷² "Swedish Strategy for eHealth-safe and accessible information in health and social care," *Ministry of Health and Social Affairs* (2008): 17 <www.regeringen.se/content/1/c6/11/48/75/39097860.pdf>.

- ⁷³ Osma Suominen, Eero Hyvönen, Kim Viljanen and Eija Hukka, "HealthFinland-a National Semantic Publishing Network and Portal for Health Information," (April, 2009). Submitted for review. <www.seco.tkk.fi/publications/submitted/suominen-et-al-healthfinland-2009.pdf>.
- ⁷⁴ "What is NHS Direct" NHS Direct, n.d. <www.nhsdirect.nhs.uk/article.aspx?name=WhatIsNHSDirect> (accessed May 15, 2009).
- ⁷⁵ "Choose and Book: Waiting Times," National Health Service, Connecting for Health (2009) <www.chooseandbook.nhs.uk/patients/wait> (accessed May 15, 2009).
- ⁷⁶ "Latest deployment statistics and information," National Health Service, Connecting for Health (2009), op. cit.
- ⁷⁷ "SwipeIT FAQ," Project SwipeIT, Medical Group Management Association, n.d.
 <www.mgma.com/solutions/landing.aspx?cid=25436&id1=25438> (accessed June 1, 2009).
- 78 Ibid.
- ⁷⁹ "UnitedHealth Group to Issue Machine-Readable Patient ID Cards," *iHealthBeat* (February 6, 2009) <www.ihealthbeat.org/Articles/2009/2/6/UnitedHealth-Group-To-Issue-MachineReadable-Patient-ID-Cards.aspx>.
- ⁸⁰ "Table 11: Patient Portals, 2006 vs. 2008," Hospitals & Health Networks' Most Wired Survey and Benchmarking Study, 2006, 2008 <www.hhnmag.com/hhnmag_app/jsp/articledisplay.jsp?dcrpath=HHNMAG/Article/data/07JUL2008/0807HHN_MW_ MainArticle_Fig11&domain=HHNMAG >.
- ⁸¹ "Kaiser says 3M enrollees track health online," San Francisco Business Times, (April 22, 2009) <sanfrancisco.bizjournals.com/sanfrancisco/stories/2009/04/20/daily41.html>.
- ⁸² Jarde Rhoads and Erica Drazen, "Touchscreen Check-In: Kiosks Speed Hospital Registration," California Health Care Foundation (March 2009) <www.chcf.org/documents/hospitals/TouchscreenCheckInKiosks.pdf>.
- ⁸³ "Table 9," Hospitals & Health Networks' Most Wired Survey and Benchmarking Study, 2008 <www.hhnmag.com/hhnmag_app/jsp/articledisplay.jsp?dcrpath=HHNMAG/Article/data/07JUL2008/0807HHN_MW_ MainArticle_Fig9&domain=HHNMAG >
- ⁸⁴ Chris Dimick, ""Taking Medical Records to the Bank." *Journal of AHIMA* 79, no.5 (May 2008): 24-29. library.ahima.org/xpedio/groups/public/documents/ahima/bok1_038087.hcsp?dDocName=bok1_038087> (accessed September 11, 2009).
- ⁸⁵ Daniel Castro, "Improving Health Care" The Information Technology and Innovation Foundation (Washington, DC: 2007).
- ⁸⁶ For more on the health record data bank model and its history, see Denis Protti, "The Health Information Bank: Revisiting Bill Dodd's Idea of 10 Years Ago" *Electronic Healthcare* Vol. 6, No. 4 (2008).
- 87 Michael Debakey, "Telemedicine has come of age," Telemedicine Journal vol. 1 no. 1 (1995): 3-4.
- ⁸⁸ Silas Olsson and Olof Jarlman, "A Short Overview of eHealth in Sweden," *International Journal of Circumpolar Health* Vol. 63, No. 4 (2004): 319 <i jch.fi/issues/634/634_Olsson_2.pdf>.
- ⁸⁹ "Telemedicine in practical application," Danish Centre for Health Telematics (December 2006).
- ⁹⁰ "National Telehealth Plan for Australia and New Zealand," National Health Information Management Advisory Council (December 2001): 34

<www.health.gov.au/internet/hconnect/publishing.nsf/Content/7746B10691FA6666CCA257128007B7EAF/\$File/teleplan.pdf>.

- ⁹¹ Karolyn Kerr and Tony Norris, "Telehealth in New Zealand: current practice and future prospects," *J Telemed Telecare* 10, no. suppl_1 (November 2, 2004): 60-63.
- ⁹² "National Telehealth Plan for Australia and New Zealand," National Health Information Management Advisory Council, op. cit.
- ⁹³ Gregory H. Howell, Vincent M. Lem, and Jennifer M. Ball, "Remote ICU Care Correlates with Reduced Health System Mortality and Length of Stay Outcomes," CHEST 132 (2007): 443 <meeting.chestjournal.org/cgi/content/abstract/132/4/443b> (accessed July 24, 2008).
- ⁹⁴ Edward T. Zawada et al., "Financial Benefit of a Tele-Intensivist Program to a Rural Health System," CHEST 132 (2007): 444 <meeting.chestjournal.org/cgi/content/abstract/132/4/444> (accessed July 24, 2008).
- ⁹⁵ Michael J. Breslow et al., "Effect of a Multiple-Site Intensive Care Unit Telemedicine Program on Clinical and Economic Outcomes: An Alternative Paradigm for Intensivist Staffing," Critical Care Medicine 32(1) (2004): 31.

- ⁹⁶ Liz Kowalczyk, "Tele-treatment" Boston Globe (November 19, 2007) <www.boston.com/business/globe/articles/2007/11/19/tele_treatment/ >.
- ⁹⁷ Takashi Hasegawa and Sumio Murase, "Distribution of Telemedicine in Japan" *Telemedicine and e-Health* Vol. 13. no. 6 (2007): 695-702.
- ⁹⁸ Neale R Chumbler et al., "Mortality risk for diabetes patients in a care coordination, home-telehealth programme," J Telemed Telecare 15, no. 2 (March 1, 2009): 98-101.
- ⁹⁹ "Table 10: Home telemonitoring," Hospitals & Health Networks' Most Wired Survey and Benchmarking Study (2008) <www.hhnmag.com/hhnmag_app/jsp/articledisplay.jsp?dcrpath=HHNMAG/Article/data/07JUL2008/0807HHN_MW_ MainArticle_Fig10&domain=HHNMAG> (accessed May 15, 2009).
- ¹⁰⁰ "Telemedicine in practical application," Danish Centre for Health Telematics, op. cit.
- ¹⁰¹ Lars Hulbaek and Ole Winding, "Telemedicine in Denmark," Advances in International Telemedicine and eHealth Around the World (2006): 49-51.
- ¹⁰² Päivi Hämäläinen, Jarmo Reponen and Ilkka Winblad, "eHealth of Finland," op. cit. p. 39.

103 Ibid.

- 104 Ibid: 29.
- ¹⁰⁵ "Sollefteå and Borås hospitals," European Commission, Information Society and Media (October 2006) <ec.europa.eu/information_society/activities/health/docs/events/opendays2006/ehealth-impact-7-10.pdf>.
- ¹⁰⁶ Silas Olsson and Olof Jarlman, "A Short Overview of eHealth in Sweden," op. cit. p. 319.
- ¹⁰⁷ "Australia: Identifying International Health care IT Business Opportunities For Small & Medium-sized British Companies," Frost & Sullivan (2004).
- ¹⁰⁸ "Would PACS have happened anyway?" National Health Service, Connecting for Health, n.d. <www.connectingforhealth.nhs.uk/systemsandservices/pacs/learn/different/myth> (accessed May 16, 2009).
- ¹⁰⁹ "Latest deployment statistics and information," National Health Service, Connecting for Health (2009), op. cit.
- ¹¹⁰ Robert Steinbrook, "The Age of Teleradiology" The New England Journal of Medicine 357 (July 5, 2007): 5-6.

111 Ibid.

- ¹¹² Denis Protti, "A Comparison of How Canada, England and Denmark are Managing their Electronic Health Record Journeys," op. cit.
- ¹¹³ Humphrey Taylor and Robert Leitman eds., "European Physicians Especially in Sweden, Netherlands and Denmark, Lead U.S. in Use of Electronic Medical Records," *Harris Interactive* (August 8, 2002).
- ¹¹⁴ "Medcom," Medcom, n.d. <www.medcom.dk/wm109991> (accessed June 1, 2009).
- ¹¹⁵ "Digitalisation of the Danish Healthcare Service," Digital health (December 2007) <www.sdsd.dk/~/media/Files/Strategi/Strategy_english.ashx>.
- ¹¹⁶ M. Bruun-Rasmussen, K. Bernstein, and S. Vingtoft, "Ten years experience with National IT strategies for the Danish Health Care service," in HIC 2008 Conference: Australia's Health Informatics Conference; The Person in the Centre, August 31-September 2, 2008 Melbourne Convention Centre, 2008, 61.
- ¹¹⁷ Päivi Hämäläinen, Jarmo Reponen and Ilkka Winblad, "eHealth of Finland," op. cit. p. 15.
- ¹¹⁸ Persephone Doupi and Pekka Ruotsalainen, "eHealth in Finland: present status and future trends," *International Journal of Circumpolar Health* 63, no. 4 (December 2004): 323 <ijch.fi/issues/634/634_Doupi.pdf>.
- ¹¹⁹ "National Strategy for eHealth: Sweden" Ministry of Health and Social Affairs, Information material S2006.019 (May 2006) <www.regeringen.se/content/1/c6/06/43/24/f6405a1c.pdf>.
- ¹²⁰ "About Carelink" Carelink, n.d. <www.carelink.se/en/organisation/> (accessed May 31, 2009).
- ¹²¹ "Vård ITiden [Health Services of Tomorrow]," Ministry of Social Welfare (March 2002) <www.regeringen.se/sb/d/207/a/887>.
- ¹²² "National Strategy for eHealth: Sweden" Ministry of Health and Social Affairs, Information material S2006.019 (May 2006):
 24 <www.regeringen.se/content/1/c6/06/43/24/f6405a1c.pdf>.
- 123 "Swedish Strategy for eHealth Status Report 2009," op. cit.

- ¹²⁴ Ashish K. Jha et al., "Use of Electronic Health Records in U.S. Hospitals," op. cit.
- 125 Daniel Castro, "Improving Health Care," op. cit.
- 126 "Migrating Toward Meaningful Use: The State of Health Information Exchange," eHealth Initiative, op. cit.
- ¹²⁷ David Blumenthal, "Stimulating the Adoption of Health Information Technology" New England Journal of Medicine Vol. 360, No. 15 (April 9, 2009): 1477-1479 <content.nejm.org/cgi/content/full/360/15/1477>.
- ¹²⁸ Anna H. Glenngard et al., "Health Systems in Transition" (European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies, 2005), www.euro.who.int/document/e88669.pdf>.
- ¹²⁹ "Quality and Efficiency in Swedish Health Care (The National Board of Health and Welfare, 2009) <www.socialstyrelsen.se/NR/rdonlyres/698A4874-F7A3-4DC4-ACF2-8EFFB49AD1AA/14401/2009126144_rev3.pdf>.
- "Quality and Efficiency in Swedish Health Care" < kikaren.skl.se/artikeldokument.asp?C=6397&A=48764&FileID=249351&NAME=Swedish+health+care.pdf>
- ¹³⁰ Päivi Hämäläinen, Jarmo Reponen and Ilkka Winblad, "eHealth of Finland," op. cit. p. 13.
- 131 Ibid.
- ¹³² "National Health Insurance: What it covers," KELA (September 26, 2008), <www.kela.fi/in/internet/english.nsf/NET/240708151439HS?OpenDocument>.
- ¹³³ "Health care in Denmark" (Ministry of the Interior and Health, 2002), <www.im.dk/publikationer/healthcare_in_dk/healthcare.pdf>.
- ¹³⁴ Denis [1] Protti, Tom [2] Bowden, and Ib [3] Johansen, "Adoption of information technology in primary care physician offices in New Zealand and Denmark, part 1: healthcare system comparisons," *Informatics in Primary Care* 16 (November 2008): 183-187.
- ¹³⁵ Denis Protti, Ib Johansen, and Francisco Perez-Torres, "Comparing the application of Health Information Technology in primary care in Denmark and Andalucía, Spain," *International Journal of Medical Informatics* 78, no. 4 (April 2009): 270-283.
- ¹³⁶ Persephone Doupi and Pekka Ruotsalainen, "eHealth in Finland: present status and future trends," op. cit. p. 324.
- ¹³⁷ "Finland builds on local foundations," eHealth Europe (March 2, 2009) <www.ehealtheurope.net/news/4614/finland_builds_on_local_foundations>.
- ¹³⁸ Clive Smee, "United Kingdom," Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law Vol. 25, No. 5 (2000): 945.
- ¹³⁹ "NHS Staff 1998 2008 Overview" NHS Information Centre (March 25, 2009) <www.ic.nhs.uk/statistics-and-data-collections/workforce/nhs-staff-numbers/nhs-staff-1998--2008-overview>.
- ¹⁴⁰ Gerard F. Anderson et al., "Health Care Spending And Use Of Information Technology In OECD Countries," *Health Affairs* 25, no. 3 (May 1, 2006): 819-831.
- ¹⁴¹ "Response to Taxpayers' Alliance comments on NPfIT budget," NHS Connecting for Health (July 13, 2007) <www.connectingforhealth.nhs.uk/newsroom/media/taxalliance> (accessed August 31, 2009).
- 142 Daniel Castro, "Improving Health Care," op. cit.
- ¹⁴³ See, for example, American Hospital Association, Continued Progress: Hospitals Use of Information Technology—2007 (Chicago, IL: February 2007) 15 <www.aha.org/aha/content/2007/pdf/070227-continuedprogress.pdf> and William Hersh, "Health Care Information Technology: Progress and Barriers," Journal of the American Medical Association 292 (2004): 2273-2274.
- ¹⁴⁴ Denis Protti, Ib Johansen, and Francisco Perez-Torres, "Comparing the application of Health Information Technology in primary care in Denmark and Andalucía, Spain," op. cit.
- ¹⁴⁵ Denis Protti, "Comparison of Information Technology in General Practice in 10 Countries," op cit. p. 114.
- 146 Ashish K. Jha et al., "The use of health information technology in seven nations," op. cit.
- ¹⁴⁷ "Australia: Identifying International Health care IT Business Opportunities For Small & Medium-sized British Companies," Frost & Sullivan (2004).
- ¹⁴⁸ "Practice Incentives Program (PIP) eHealth Incentive" Department of Health and Ageing (March 2009) <www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/C55286A97813B583CA25757F0017BB5E/\$File/EH_Qs%20 &%20As_20Mar09.pdf>.
- 149 Lars Hulbaek and Ole Winding, "Telemedicine in Denmark," op. cit.

- ¹⁵⁰ Rae Woong Park et al., "Computerized Physician Order Entry and Electronic Medical Record Systems in Korean Teaching and General Hospitals," op. cit.
- ¹⁵¹ Hideo Yasunaga et al., "Computerizing medical record in Japan," op. cit. p. 711.

- 153 Ibid.
- ¹⁵⁴ GovTrack.us. S. 1--111th Congress (2009): American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, GovTrack.us (database of federal legislation) <www.govtrack.us/congress/bill.xpd?bill=s111-1> (accessed Jun 22, 2009).
- ¹⁵⁵ Letter to Rep. Henry Waxman from the Congressional Budget Office. January 21, 2009.
- ¹⁵⁶ Madeleine Konig, Sheera Rosenfeld, Sara Rubin and Scott Weier, "Stimulus Spending: Will the EHR Incentives Work" *Avalere Health* (March 2009) <www.avalerehealth.net/research/docs/hit_stimulus_spending_slides.pdf>.
- ¹⁵⁷ "HIMSS Estimates Stimulus Impact," *Health Data Management* (April 6, 2009) <www.healthdatamanagement.com/news/EHRs-28019-1.html>.
- ¹⁵⁸ "Report: Hospitals' IT implementation tied to government's 'carrot and stick' approach," *Healthcare IT* News (April 16, 2009) <www.healthcareitnews.com/news/report-hospitals-it-implementation-tied-governments-carrot-and-stick-approach>.
- ¹⁵⁹ (Denmark) Denis Protti and Gunnar Nilsson, "Swedish GPs use Electronic Patient Records," op. cit. and (Norway) Denis Protti, "Comparison of Information Technology in General Practice in 10 Countries," op. cit. p. 110.
- ¹⁶⁰ Denis Protti, Ib Johansen, and Francisco Perez-Torres, "Comparing the application of Health Information Technology in primary care in Denmark and Andalucía, Spain," op. cit. and Lisbeth Nielsen, Head of Department, IT & Quality in Health Care, Danish Regions. Personal communication to author. September 21. 2009.
- ¹⁶¹ Outi Alapekkala, "KanTa the national electronic healthcare architecture" *eHealthEurope* (March 2, 2009) <www.ehealtheurope.net/Features/item.cfm?docId=288> (accessed May 7, 2009).
- 162 Denis Protti and Gunnar Nilsson, "Swedish GPs use Electronic Patient Records," op. cit.
- ¹⁶³ Denis Protti, "Comparison of Information Technology in General Practice in 10 Countries," op. cit. p. 97.
- 164 Ibid.: 112.
- ¹⁶⁵ "FAQ: What is the purpose of the National Provider Identifier (NPI)? Who must use it, and when?" Centers for Medicare and Medicaid. (2008) <questions.cms.hhs.gov>.
- ¹⁶⁶ Denis Protti, "Comparison of Information Technology in General Practice in 10 Countries," op. cit. p. 115.
- 167 Robert H. Miller et al., "The Value of Electronic Health Records in Solo or Small Group Practices," op. cit.
- ¹⁶⁸ Ashish K. Jha et al., "The use of health information technology in seven nations," op. cit.
- ¹⁶⁹ Denis Protti and Ib Johansen, "Further lessons from Denmark," op. cit.
- 170 Denis Protti and Gunnar Nilsson, "Swedish GPs use Electronic Patient Records," op. cit.
- ¹⁷¹ Denis Protti, Tom Bowden, and Ib Johansen, "Adoption of information technology in primary care physician offices in New Zealand and Denmark, part 3: medical record environment comparisons," *Informatics in Primary Care* 16 (December 2008): 285-290.
- ¹⁷² Jos Aarts and Ross Koppel, "Implementation of Computerized Physician Order Entry in Seven Countries," op. cit. p. 412.
- 173 "Conference report: Sweden," Chemist & Druggist, 10 (June 21, 2008). (accessed May 3, 2009).
- ¹⁷⁴ "Carelink's organization," *Carelink*, n.d. <www.carelink.se/en/organisation/organisation/>.
- ¹⁷⁵ "Pharmacy in Finland," *The Pharmaceutical Journal* Vol. 265, No. 7125 (December 2, 2000): 827-829 <www.pharmj.com/Editorial/20001202/articles/Finland.html>.
- 176 "Continental shelf: Finland: where the patient is king." Chemist & Druggist, May 29, 2004, 36. (accessed May 3, 2009).
- ¹⁷⁷ Silas Olsson and Olof Jarlman, "A Short Overview of eHealth in Sweden," op. cit. p. 320.
- ¹⁷⁸ "Pharmacy Act: 657 af 28/07 1995," Danish Medicines Agency n.d. <lmslw.lovportaler.dk/showdoc.aspx?docId=lov19840279uk-full> (accessed May 4, 2009).
- ¹⁷⁹ Not surprisingly, Denmark has low consumption of drugs and one of the lowest per capita medicine expenses of all developed countries. "Annual Report 2007-2008," *The Association of Danish Pharmacies* (2008): 2
 <www.apotekerforeningen.dk/pdf/annualreport2007-2008.pdf>.

¹⁵² Ibid.

- ¹⁸⁰ "Annual Report 2007-2008," The Association of Danish Pharmacies (2008), op. cit. p. 8.
- 181 Ibid: 12
- ¹⁸² "Drug Stores Fighting for Consumers," CSP Daily News (August 20, 2009) <www.cspnet.com>.
- ¹⁸³ "Electronic Prescribing: Becoming Mainstream Practice" eHealth Initiative and the Center for Improving Medication Management, op. cit.
- ¹⁸⁴ Robert D. Atkinson, Daniel K. Correa, and Julie A. Hedlund, "Explaining International Broadband Leadership," *Information Technology and Innovation Foundation* (May 2008), <</p>
 www.itif.org/files/ExplainingBBLeadership.pdf>.
- ¹⁸⁵ "IT brings the Danish health sector together," Digital Sundhed (2008) <www.sdsd.dk/~/media/Files/WoHIT/2009/WoHit 05 01 09 2.ashx>.
- ¹⁸⁶ Hämäläinen, Reponen, and Winblad, eHealth of Finland: Check Point 2008.
- ¹⁸⁷ Denis Protti and Ib Johansen, "Further lessons from Denmark," op. cit. p. 38.
- 188 Denis Protti, "Comparison of Information Technology in General Practice in 10 Countries," op. cit. p. 114.
- 189 Ibid.
- ¹⁹⁰ Denis Protti, Tom Bowden, and Ib Johansen, "Adoption of information technology in primary care physician offices in New Zealand and Denmark, part 2: historical comparisons," *Informatics in Primary Care* 16 (November 2008): 191.
- ¹⁹¹ Denis Protti, "A Comparison of How Canada, England and Denmark are Managing their Electronic Health Record Journeys," op. cit.
- ¹⁹² Reponen, Winblad, and Hämäläinen, "Status of eHealth Deployment and National Laws in Finland.".
- ¹⁹³ Vaida Bankauskaite (ed.), "Health Systems in Transition: Sweden," European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies (2005) <www.euro.who.int/document/e88669.pdf>.
- ¹⁹⁴ "Swedish Strategy for eHealth-safe and accessible information in health and social care," *Ministry of Health and Social Affairs* (2008), op. cit. p. 13.
- ¹⁹⁵ Hans Haveman, "Interview with Hans Haveman," In person, May 11, 2009.
- ¹⁹⁶ (United States) Jeffrey M. Jones, "Trust in Government Remains Low," Gallup (September 18, 2008)
 www.gallup.com/poll/110458/trust-government-remains-low.aspx> and (Denmark) Eben Harrell, "In Denmark's Electronic Health Records Program, a Lesson for the U.S.," *Time*, April 16, 2009,
 www.time.com/time/health/article/0,8599,1891209,00.html>.
- ¹⁹⁷ Laura Parker, "Medical-privacy law creates wide confusion," USA Today, October 16, 2003, <www.usatoday.com/news/nation/2003-10-16-cover-medical-privacy_x.htm>.
- ¹⁹⁸ Amalia Miller and Catherine Tucker, "Privacy Protection and Technology Diffusion: The Case of Electronic Medical Records," Management Science, 55 (July 10, 2009): 1077-1093.
- ¹⁹⁹ L. Jarvis and B. Stanberry, "Teleradiology: threat or opportunity?" Clinical Radiology 60 (2005): 840-845.

200 Ibid.

- ²⁰¹ Persephone Doupi and Pekka Ruotsalainen, "eHealth in Finland: present status and future trends," op. cit. p. 324.
- ²⁰² Denis Protti, Ib Johansen, and Francisco Perez-Torres, "Comparing the application of Health Information Technology in primary care in Denmark and Andalucía, Spain," op. cit.
- ²⁰³ Roald Bergstrøm and Vigdis Heimly, "Information Technology Strategies for Health and Social Care in Norway," International Journal of Circumpolar Health Vol. 63, No. 4 (2004) <i jch.fi/issues/634/634_Bergstrom.pdf>.
- ²⁰⁴ Beth W. Orenstein, "Final Answer? Teleradiology Takes on Final Reads" Radiology Today Vol. 8 No. 1 (January 15, 2007): 12 < www.radiologytoday.net/archive/rt01152007p12.shtml>.
- ²⁰⁵ Robert D. Atkinson and Thomas G. Wilhelm, "The Best States for E-Commerce," (Progressive Policy Institute, Washington, DC: 2002) <www.ppionline.org/documents/States_Ecommerce.pdf>.
- ²⁰⁶ Frank Levy and Kyoung-Hee Yu, "Offshoring Radiology Services to India," Industrial Performance Center, Massachusetts Institute of Technology (September 2006) <web.mit.edu/ipc/publications/pdf/06-005.pdf>.
- ²⁰⁷ Rahn Kim, "Telemedicine May Replace Face-to Face Therapy," The Korean Times (July 28, 2009) <www.koreatimes.co.kr/www/news/nation/2009/07/113_49237.html> (accessed August 5, 2009).

- ²⁰⁸ Denis Protti and Ib Johansen, "Further lessons from Denmark," op. cit. p. 38.
- ²⁰⁹ Denis Protti, "Comparison of Information Technology in General Practice in 10 Countries," op. cit. p. 114.
- ²¹⁰ "National IT Strategy 2003-2007 for the Danish Health Care Service," The Ministry of the Interior and Health (May 2003).
- ²¹¹ Denis Protti and Ib Johansen, "Further lessons from Denmark," op. cit. p. 38.
- ²¹² Persephone Doupi and Pekka Ruotsalainen, "eHealth in Finland: present status and future trends," op. cit. p. 324.
- ²¹³ "KanTa the national electronic healthcare architecture," eHealth Europe (March 2, 2009), op. cit.
- ²¹⁴ Päivi Hämäläinen, Jarmo Reponen and Ilkka Winblad, "eHealth of Finland," op. cit. p. 53-58.
- ²¹⁵ Kalevi Virta, Phone interview with Daniel Castro, May 19, 2009.
- ²¹⁶ Ibid..
- ²¹⁷ "KanTa the national electronic healthcare architecture," eHealth Europe (March 2, 2009), op. cit.
- ²¹⁸ "National Patient Summary," Carelink, n.d.
 accessed June 1, 2009)
- ²¹⁹ "RIV Standards for Electronic Interoperability in Health Care and Social Services," Carelink, n.d. <www.carelink.se/en/the_initative/acsess_to_care_informatio/riv/> (accessed June 1, 2009).
- ²²⁰ Silas Olsson and Olof Jarlman, "A Short Overview of eHealth in Sweden," op. cit. p. 319.
- ²²¹ Gustav Malmqvist, K G Nerander, and Mats Larson, "Sjunet--the national IT infrastructure for healthcare in Sweden," *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics* 100 (2004): 41-49.
- ²²² "A Roadmap for Interoperability of e-Health Systems in Support of COM 356 with Special Emphasis on Semantic Interoperability" ICT for Health, European Commission (2007) <ec.europa.eu/information_society/activities/health/docs/publications/fp6upd2007/ride2007.pdf>.
- ²²³ "The National Healthcare Information Hub," National ICT Institute for Healthcare (February 15, 2006): 2.
- ²²⁴ "Latest deployment statistics and information," National Health Service, Connecting for Health (2009), op. cit.
- ²²⁵ Laura Landro, "An Affordable Fix for Modernizing Medical Records," *wsj.com*, April 30, 2009, sec. Health, <online.wsj.com/article/SB124104350516570503.html>.
- ²²⁶ "About CONNECT NHIN Connect Gateway," CONNECT Community Portal. n.d. <www.connectopensource.org/display/Gateway/About+CONNECT> (accessed June 1, 2009).
- ²²⁷ David F. Lobach and Don E. Detmer, "Research Challenges for Electronic Health Records" American Journal of Preventive Medicine (2007): S104.
- ²²⁸ Kristiina Häyrinen and Kaija Saranto, "The core data elements of electronic health record in Finland," *Studies in Health Technology and Informatics* 116 (2005): 134-135.
- ²²⁹ "Country focus: Finland," eHealth Europe (February 24, 2009) <www.ehealtheurope.net/Features/item.cfm?docId=282>.
- ²³⁰ Päivi Hämäläinen, Jarmo Reponen and Ilkka Winblad, "eHealth of Finland," op. cit. p. 23.
- ²³¹ Denis Protti, Ib Johansen, and Francisco Perez-Torres, "Comparing the application of Health Information Technology in primary care in Denmark and Andalucía, Spain," op. cit.
- 232 Ibid..
- ²³³ GovTrack.us. S. 1--111th Congress (2009): American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, GovTrack.us (database of federal legislation) <www.govtrack.us/congress/bill.xpd?bill=s111-1> (accessed Jun 22, 2009).
- ²³⁴ David J Brailer, "Presidential leadership and health information technology," *Health Affairs (Project Hope)* 28, no. 2 (April 2009): w392-398.
- ²³⁵ "Health Industry Sees Benefits, Hurdles to New Coding System," *iHealthBeat* (November 11, 2008) <www.ihealthbeat.org/Articles/2008/11/11/Health-Industry-Sees-Benefits-Hurdles-to-New-Coding-System.aspx>.
- ²³⁶ Denis Protti, Ib Johansen, and Francisco Perez-Torres, "Comparing the application of Health Information Technology in primary care in Denmark and Andalucía, Spain," op. cit.
- 237 Catherine Quantin et al., "Unique Patient Concept: A key choice for European epidemiology," op. cit.
- ²³⁸ Richard Hillestad et al., Identity Crisis: An Examination of the Costs and Benefits of a Unique Patient Identifier for the U.S. Health Care System (RAND, October 20, 2008), <www.rand.org/pubs/monographs/MG753/>.

- ²³⁹ Finland: Reponen, Winblad, and Hämäläinen, "Status of eHealth Deployment and National Laws in Finland." and Sweden: Karin Johansson and Olivia Wigzell, "Interview with Assistant Secretary of Health and Deputy Director-General and Head of the Health Care Division at the Ministry," In-person interview with Daniel Castro and Rob Atkinson, April 24, 2009.
- ²⁴⁰ David F. Lobach and Don E. Detmer, "Research Challenges for Electronic Health Records" American Journal of Preventive Medicine (2007): S104.
- ²⁴¹ "National experts at odds over patient identifiers," *Healthcare IT News* (October 18, 2004) <www.healthcareitnews.com/news/national-experts-odds-over-patient-identifiers>.
- ²⁴² "NHS Number to be used as the unique patient identifier by all NHS organisations in England and Wales," *National Patient Safety Agency* (September 2008) <www.npsa.nhs.uk/corporate/news/nhsnumber/> (accessed September 19, 2009).
- ²⁴³ Catherine Quantin et al., "Unique Patient Concept: A key choice for European epidemiology," op. cit.
- ²⁴⁴ Carol C. Diamond, Prepared Statement of Carol C. Diamond to the Subcommittee on Oversight of Government Management, the Federal Workforce, and the District of Columbia and the Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs of the Senate of the United States. (February 1, 2007 <www.markle.org/downloadable assets/caroldiamond february12007final.pdf>.
- ²⁴⁵ Hillestad et al., Identity Crisis: An Examination of the Costs and Benefits of a Unique Patient Identifier for the U.S. Health Care System.
- ²⁴⁶ Catherine Quantin et al., "Unique Patient Concept: A key choice for European epidemiology," op. cit.
- ²⁴⁷ Lynn Etheredge, "A Rapid-Learning Health System," op. cit.
- ²⁴⁸ Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, "Federal Health IT Strategic Plan," Washington, D.C., June 3, 2008. <healthit.hhs.gov/portal/server.pt?open=512&mode=2&cached=true&objID=1211> (accessed September 9, 2009).
- ²⁴⁹ Federico Girosi, Robin Meili and Richard Scoville, Extrapolating Evidence of Health Information Technology Savings and Costs (Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation, 2005) <rand.org/pubs/monographs/ 2005/RAND MG410.pdf >.
- ²⁵⁰ Denis Protti, Tom Bowden, and Ib Johansen, "Adoption of information technology in primary care physician offices in New Zealand and Denmark, part 2: historical comparisons," *Informatics in Primary Care* 16 (November 2008): 191.
- ²⁵¹ David B. Kendall, "Building a Health Information Network," op. cit.
- ²⁵² See similar proposal by David B. Kendall, "Building a Health Information Network," op. cit.
- ²⁵³ "National Progress Report on E-Prescribing," Surescripts (2009) <www.surescripts.net/downloads/NPR/national-progressreport.pdf>.
- ²⁵⁴ U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Resources and Technology, Office of Grants, "Overview," Tracking Accountability in Government Grants (TAGGS) FY2006 Annual Report (Washington, DC: 2006)<taggs.hhs.gov/AnnualReport/fy2006/overview/index.cfm>.
- ²⁵⁵ Daniel Castro, "Meeting National and International Goals for Improving Health Care: The Role of Information Technology in Medical Research," op. cit.
- ²⁵⁶ Lynn Etheredge, "A Rapid-Learning Health System," op. cit.
- ²⁵⁷ Denis Protti, "Comparison of Information Technology in General Practice in 10 Countries," op. cit. p. 114.

About the Author

Daniel Castro is a Senior Analyst with Information Technology and Innovation Foundation. His research interests include technology policy, security, and privacy. Mr. Castro has a B.S. from the School of Foreign Service at Georgetown University and an M.S. in information security technology and management from Carnegie Mellon University.

About the Information Technology and Innovation Foundation

The Information Technology and Innovation Foundation (ITIF) is a nonprofit, non-partisan public policy think tank committed to articulating and advancing a pro-productivity, pro-innovation and pro-technology public policy agenda internationally, in Washington and in the states. Through its research, policy proposals, and commentary, ITIF is working to advance and support public policies that boost innovation, e-transformation and productivity.

Acknowledgements

The author wishes to thank the following individuals for providing input to this report: Rob Atkinson, Timo Haikonen, Denis Protti, Christina Wanscher, and Kalevi Virta. Any errors or omissions are the author's alone.

ITIF also extends a special thanks to the Sloan Foundation for its generous support of this series.